
Bazalgette Equity Limited 

z · · ; _- •%­ } •í _· œ k■· _· ~■_- * í_í%è %· í* 
v} • í£% Ï %_• %· œ%œ yF C_•~£ hmF0 
x %� ■* í%•%œ · ; è j %• m811yy83 



E_=_-� %íí% D" ; ■íÏ O■è ■í%œ 
z · · ; _- •%­ } •í _· œ k■· _· ~■_- * í_í%è %· í* 

Contents 

L ■•%~í} •* _· œ _œY■*} •* 

J í•_í%� ■~ •%­ } •í 

L ■•%~í} •* e •%­ } •í 

h 

y 

U~ 

J í_í%è %· í } k œ■•%~í} •*e •%*­ } · *■j ■-■í■%* ■· •%* ­ %~í } k í£% J í•_í%� ■~ •%­ } •íf í£% L ■•%~í} •*e •%­ } •í _· œ í£% 

k■· _· ~■_- * í_í%è %· í* 

,· œ%­ %· œ%· í _; œ■í} •e* •%­ } •í í} í£% è %è j %•* } k E_=_-� %íí% D" ; ■íÏ O■è ■í%œ 

S•} ; ­ ,· ~} è % J í_í%è %· í 

S•} ; ­ J í_í%è %· í } k wí£%• q } è ­ •%£%· *■Y% ,· ~} è % 

S•} ; ­ _· œ q } è ­ _· Ï J í_í%è %· í } k v■· _· ~■_- N} *■í■} · 

S•} ; ­ _· œ q } è ­ _· Ï J í_í%è %· í } k q £_· � %* ■· D" ; ■íÏ 

S•} ; ­ _· œ q } è ­ _· Ï q _*£ v-} \ J í_í%è %· í* 

P} í%* í} í£% k■· _· ~■_- * í_í%è %· í* 

45 

3M 

51 

51 

KJ 

53 

54 

55 



E_=_-� %íí% D" ; ■íÏ O■è ■í%œ 
z · · ; _- •%­ } •í _· œ k■· _· ~■_- * í_í%è %· í* 

Directors and advisors 
Directors holding office 

z · œ•%\ q } ! 

J ~} íí C~S•%� } • 

I } *%­ £ N£■-■­ *= 

z -■* í_■• x _Ï 

z · � %-_ x } *£■%• 

S_Y■· T_■í 

z è _· œ_ Q } } œ* 

Company Secretary 

V_-è _■ E_•~-_Ï 

Registered office 

q } íí} · * q %· í•% 

q } íí} · * O_· % 

O} · œ} · 

J DF h 6 S 

Independent auditor 

GNC S OON 

F1 q _· _œ_ J " ; _•% 

O} · œ} · 

DF3 1S O 

h 



E_=_-� %íí% D" ; ■íÏ O■è ■í%œ 
z · · ; _- •%­ } •í _· œ k■· _· ~■_- * í_í%è %· í* 

Strategic report 
T£% œ■•%~í} •* ­ •%*%· í í£%■• J í•_í%� ■~ •%­ } •í k}• E_=_-� %íí% D" ; ■íÏ S•} ; ­ pí£% S•} ; ­ o _· œ E_=_-� %íí% 
D" ; ■íÏ O■è ■í%œ pí£% q } è ­ _· Ï o k}• í£% Ï %_• %· œ%œ yF C_•~£ hmF0c 

Introduction 

T£% E_=_-� %íí% D" ; ■íÏ O■è ■í%œ ■* í£% ; -í■è _í% ~} · í•} --■· � ~} è ­ _· Ï } k í£% E_=_-� %íí% D" ; ■íÏ O■è ■í%œ � •} ; ­ 
} k ~} è ­ _· ■%* c 

z * _í í£% yF C_•~£ hmF0f í£% S•} ; ­ ~} è ­ •■*%œ í£% q } è ­ _· Ï f E_=_-� %íí% V%· í; •%* O■è ■í%œ pEVOof E_=_-� %íí% 
' } -œ■· � * O■è ■í%œ pE' Oof E_=_-� %íí% T; · · %- O■è ■í%œ pETOof E_=_-� %íí% v■· _· ~% ­ ■~ pv■· q } o _· œ T£_è %* T■œ%\ _Ï 
T; · · %- O■è ■í%œ pTTT Oíœoc ETO ■* _· ■· œ%­ %· œ%· í •%� ; -_í%œ \ _í%• ~} è ­ _· Ï \ £■~£ \ _* _\ _•œ%œ _ -■~%· ~% j Ï mk\ _í 
■· z ; � ; * í hmF1c -· z ­ •■- hmF0f TTT Oíœ \ _* Y} -; · í_•■-Ï œ■** } -Y%œ \ ■í£ ■í* -_* í í•_œ■· � œ_í% j %■· � í£% yF 
C_•~£ hmF2c 

T£% ­ •■· ~■­ _- _~í■Y■íÏ } k í£% q } è ­ _· Ï ■* í} _~í _* í£% ; -í■è _í% £} -œ■· � ~} è ­ _· Ï } k í£% S•} ; ­ _· œ í} _~í 
_* í£% Y%£■~-% k}• *£_•%£} -œ%• *£_•% ~_­ ■í_- k■· _· ~■· � c -í œ} %* · } í ~_••Ï } ; í _· Ï _~í■Y■í■%* j %Ï } · œ í£■* 
•} -%c 

T£% E_=_-� %íí% D" ; ■íÏ O■è ■í%œ S•} ; ­ e* ■· Y%* í} •* ■· ~-; œ% z --■_· = ,· k•_* í•; ~í; •% O; ! %è j } ; •� , J c_c•c,f 
L _-è } •% q _­ ■í_- 14 SN O■è ■í%œf ,NN pE_=_-� %íí%o O■è ■í%œf E_=_-� %íí% p,· Y%*íè %· í*o O■è ■í%œ _· œ L ,v 
E■œ q } O■è ■í%œ pWGoc T£% S•} ; ­ *í•; ~í; •% ■* *%í } ; í j %-} \ R 

Amber-related %·í■í■%* 

SWiss Life 

15.99% 
, 

, 
- , , 33.76% € 1 o.66% , 

, , , , , 
L_ 2 , , 

F , , 
, , , 
, , , 
, , J £_•*£} -œ%• , :=-_J_ _ :& : : Í +·_ : , 

O}_· * 

!jK%œDºy . œü%( 

E} · œ* Bazalgette 
f Dï'ïKj (¡ K Proceeds Bazalgette 

/ %ïï ~ &O Debt 

D_~£ *£_•%£} -œ%• ~} · í•} --■· � 1 O ­ %• ~%· í } • è } •% } k í£% } •œ■· _•Ï *£_•%* } k í£% q } è ­ _· Ï _· œ -} _· · } í%* 
} k EVO ■* %· í■í-%œ í} _­ ­ } ■· í } · % œ■•%~í} • í} í£% E} _•œ* } k í£% q } è ­ _· Ï f EVO _· œ E' Oc D_~£ *£_•%£} -œ%• 
~} · í•} --■· � hml } • è } •% } k í£% } •œ■· _•Ï *£_•%* } k í£% q } è ­ _· Ï _· œ -} _· · } í%* } k EVO ■* %· í■í-%œ í} 
_­ ­ } ■· í _· _œœ■í■} · _- œ■•%~í} • í} í£% E} _•œ* } k í£% q } è ­ _· Ï f EVO _· œ E' Oc T£% j } _•œ } k í£% q } è ­ _· Ï 
■* ~} è è ■íí%œ í} j %* í ­ •_~í■~% ■· ~} •­ } •_í% � } Y%•· _· ~%c 

w· _ œ_Ï í} œ_Ï j _*■* í£% q £■%k D! %~; í■Y% wkk■~%•f í£% q £■%k v■· _· ~■_- wkk■~%• _· œ í£% q £■%k w­ %•_í■· � 
wkk■~%• } k ETO _-* } ~_••Ï } ; í œ; í■%* } · j %£_-k } k í£% S•} ; ­ \ ■í£ ~-%_• � } Y%•· _· ~% _· œ ~} · í•} -* ■· ­ -_~% 
í} %· * ; •% í£_í œ%~■*■} · * í£_í _kk%~í ■· œ■Y■œ; _- S•} ; ­ ~} è ­ _· ■%* _•% í_/ %· ■· -■· % \ ■í£ í£■* � } Y%•· _· ~% 
k•_è %\ } •/ c 

v ; •í£%• ■· k}•è _í■} · } · } ; • %" ; ■íÏ ■· Y%*í} •* _· œ í£%■• %" ; ■íÏ ■· í%•%* í* f _* \ %-- _* E} _•œ -%_œ%•*£■­ f 
í•_· * ­ _•%· ~Ï _· œ � } Y%•· _· ~% _•% œ■*~-} *%œ ■· í£% ' } -œ■· � q } è ­ _· Ï N•■· ~■­ -%* *í_í%è %· í \ £■~£ ■* 
_Y_■-_j -% _í \\\ cí■œ%\ _Yc-} · œ} · c 

y 



Bazalgette Equity Limited
Annual report and financial statements

Business review 
The principal activity of the Group is the design, build, commission and maintenance of the Thames
Tideway Tunnel (TTT). BTL began operating as an independent regulated water company in August
2015 when Ofwat awarded it a licence to carry out those appointed activities. The emphasis given to
BTL, which trades under the name 'Tideway', throughout this report reflects its importance to the overall
performance of the Group.

The TTT will be a 25km tunnel beneath London, which has been dubbed the 'super sewer', will store
and transfer tens of millions of tonnes of untreated sewage each year, which currently pollutes the tidal
River Thames.

Our Shareholder group has extensive experience of investing in and managing a wide range of
infrastructure assets in the UK and overseas. Since Licence Award, our Shareholders have invested
£1.3bn. Over half the total equity invested is by UK investors, including a large number of UK pensioners
through investment by major pension funds, giving UK pensioners an investment in Tideway.

The shareholder group comprises: 

■Allianz

■ Dalmore Capital Limited 

INPP & Swiss Life
(managed and advised 
by Amber Infrastructure) 

DIF 

Thames Tideway Tunnel scheme 

London's sewer network was built by Sir Joseph Bazalgette in the 1860s, to cope with up to four million
people. The system now struggles to serve a city of more than eight million. This population increase
means that the network is regularly overwhelmed, resulting in discharges into the Thames via combined
sewer overflows (CSOs), which were designed to release excess sewage flows during heavy storms.
These discharges have increased from one or two a year in Victorian times to an average of one a week
more recently. This results in tens of millions of cubic metres of sewage entering the tidal section of the
Thames each year.

The total estimated cost of the tunnel is £4.2bn, in 2014/15 prices. Ofwat has set a regulatory baseline
of £3.1 bn (in 2014/15 prices, with the total of £3.5bn in outturn prices) for Tideway's element of the
programme, with the rest delivered by Thames Water. The real impact on Thames Water customers'
annual bills for the entire project is estimated to be around £20-25 per household by the mid-2020s (in
2014/15 prices), considerably lower than the £70-80 per household originally estimated. The tunnel's
design will make it self-cleaning and will minimise ongoing operational and maintenance requirements
during its expected life of at least 120 years.
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Regulatory oversight 

Tideway is an independent regulated water company, with a new delivery model designed to attract
private sector capital to finance infrastructure and deliver value for money to customers. This enables
us to finance our functions, earn a reasonable return on our investors' capital and maintain an
investment grade credit rating. Our bespoke regulatory framework provides a revenue stream in both
the construction and operational periods. Revenues are billed and collected on our behalf by Thames
Water from its wastewater customers and passed to Tideway.

For the period until 2030, revenues are calculated according to the framework set out in our Licence,
which is primarily based on a percentage return (2.497 per cent) on the regulatory value of our company
(the Regulatory Capital Value or RCV). From 2030, we expect to be regulated in line with the rest of the
water industry, with price control reviews every five years.

Our delivery partners 

Our delivery partners include our Programme Manager (PM), consortia known as the Main Works
Contractors (MWCs) for the works in the West, Central and East areas (see table below) and our system
integrator, Amey OWR.

Role 

West Contract 

Contractors 

BMB JV~Bam uttall Ltd
Morgan Sènda Pic
Balfour Beatty Group Ltd 

Central Conhad FLO JV: Ferrovial Agroman UK Ltd
laing O Rourke Construction Lid 

East Contract CVB JV: Costain Ud 
v· ci Construction Grands Protects 
Bachi¡ Soletanehe Lidi 

System egrator Amey ffiVR Ud 

Prog;ramme Manager Jacobs (formerly CH21',1) 

We have also created an overarching Alliance, governed by an Alliance Agreement between us,
Thames Water, the MWCs and the System Integrator. This agreement incentivises collaborative
behaviour around the construction programme's aims and outcomes, including the key milestones and
the objective of meeting overall cost, driving everyone to manage costs and risks in an integrated way.

The route 

The tunnel will run from the Acton Storm Tanks in West London to the Lee Tunnel at Abbey Mills in
East London, with most of the tunnel being under the River Thames. The flow from over 30 CSOs will
be diverted from the existing sewerage network into the main tunnel, where it will continue to flow by
gravity to the existing Lee Tunnel. From there it will run to the Tideway Pumping Station, to be pumped
to Beckton sewage treatment works.

The main tunnel construction will use TBMs in four drives from three main sites, with two additional
connection tunnel-drive sites. The main drive sites are in Fulham in the West, Battersea in the Central
section and Bermondsey in the East. Additional works will intercept the CSOs and connect them to the
main tunnel.
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25
kilometres long

Travelling from west to east 
London, the main tunnel wi f

be 25 m long. Two connection
tunnels will be 4.6km and

1.1km long.

7.2 66
metres wide metres deep

The man uinel wal have an internal 
diameter of 6.5 metres between
Acioo Stonn Tanks and Camwath 
Road Riverside. lt wil have a 7 2 

metre internal diameter at Abbey Mills
PIIT,p.-ig Station. The GrtUJwich 

comection tunnel wil have a 5 metre 
internal dianeter and Frogmore 

connection tumel wil be 2.6 metres. 

The b.a1n-el needs to fai one metre 
every 790 metres so it can be
self-cleaning. Starting from

30 metres deep at Acton Storm
Tanks, it wiU finish 66 metres deep
at Abbey Mills Plmpäng Station.

ACTON STORM TANKS 
CARNWATH ROAD 

RIVERSIDE KIRnlNG STREET CHAMBERS WHARF 
ABBEY MILLS 

PUMPING STATION 

WEST CENTRAL EAST 

Who We Are and What We Do
Thames T ldewa} Tunnel 

The tlfflelgeneraly ~ theRiver Thamesfrom Acton
to l.Jmehouse. h!ln conmue:s north-ea.si to Abbey Mil:s
Ptinpng Stabon. where II wil oomect to the Lee Tt.Olei

·--­ -- .....- ... • ,i;.... _, ... _ 
_ T __ ... __ .. 4 ~--

!.~:.:-::::--- _ ..... ~­""_.___ 
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The timeline 

Following Licence Award and the award of the Main Works Contracts, we agreed a baseline schedule
with our MWCs that met the licence date, which we call the Current Regulatory Baseline.

The key stages in the schedule include:

• Mobilisation of the MWCs. This initially started off site, with mobilisation of resource, the start
of detailed design work, consenting applications and procurement of subcontractors and
materials. The mobilisation then moved on site as these activities progressed, construction
sequencing was finalised and any applicable enabling Thames Water Works were completed.

• Construction. This includes tasks such as excavating deep shafts for the three drive sites and
each of the CSO interception shafts, tunnelling, tunnel secondary lining, installing mechanical
and electronical equipment, and architectural and landscaping works.

• Commissioning. This will be done in two stages and includes worksite testing for each
worksite and the connection of all the worksites and tunnels to one system - the London
Tideway Tunnel (LTT) system. Once this is complete, Handover occurs, with the Thames
Tideway Tunnel (TTT) Works handed from the MWCs to Tideway. At this stage, the MWCs'
activities are complete and the contractors are demobilised.

• System Acceptance period. This is an 18 to 36 month proving period, in which the LTT will be
operated across a variety of storms and conditions, to demonstrate it fulfils the project
requirements. Once this is complete, Thames Water takes over the responsibility to maintain
for the near-ground structures and assets. Tideway will retain responsibility for the shafts and
tunnel structures and ensure the TTT is available to allow flow to pass through into the Lee
Tunnel. This involves inspecting the deep tunnels and shafts, which we expect to do on a ten­
yearly cycle, and performing any maintenance required.

Current Regulatory Baseline: 
Regulatory baseline timeine P:Y)

21115116 2016117 2017118 2:018119 2011li'20 :2!02lll21 2021122 2022f23 :!r.122124 21J2,1125 2025/2& 21126121

LicenceAward 
Mobìisation,.

Consbuc:tion"

Shafts

Man tunnels

Tunnel secondary lining 

Commis sioning ,-
Handove r

System Acceptance peñod :::i
Acceptance • 

*This phase shows Mobilisation activities from Licence Award to the start of Construction at the three main drive sites.
Additional Mobilisation activities continue throughout construction (i.e. consents, procurement).
**The gap between shafts and commissioning reflects the need to complete additional construction activities after shafts are
complete, prior to the start of commissioning (i.e. air management systems, structures, landscaping).

Business Model 

Delivering for our stakeholders - our legacy for London 

ln addition to the benefits the tunnel will bring, we are committed to maximising the long-term benefits
we create for all our stakeholders and to delivering a positive and lasting legacy for London.

Over the coming years, we aim to transform the way in which things are done in the industry. Starting
with health, safety and wellbeing, we are treating people differently from the very beginning, seeking
much higher levels of engagement and commitment to doing things better and safer. We want to see a
step change in the health and wellbeing of everyone working on the project, with people leaving
healthier than when they started.

Our key enablers and the value we create for stakeholders are set out in the table below.
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Enablers 

Safe Operations/Delivery 
We strive to create and mamtam a culture of safely or not at all

See Health, Safety and WeObeing section 

Effective Govemance/Overslght/GSP· 
Oœ ris management systems a,,,d policy provide a clear and
consistent framework for managing and reporting risks. The Board
regularly reviews how •,•te Pdent1fy. evaluate and manage risks.

See Risk Management section 

Talented and Passionate People 
We ,.,,ork to attract. motrvate, develop and retam the best talent
- our performance and ab1uty to thnve depends on rt.

See Company & People section 

Experienced and Competitive SUpply Chain (PM & MWCs) 
We h.JVe an expenenced and competrtive supply cnain with the
nght mcentrres ,n place aod strong iníonnanon I nks across each 
of our three contract areas, so we can s.hare lessons learned.

Collaborative Thames Water Relationsh1p 
We •.i;ork dosel;• and co-locate 11111th Thames Waier to ensure
that we have a co Laboratt,re relanonship.

See Schedule, Cost and Quality section 

stakeholder Focus
We am to buikl enctt.,,ng rel:aboirlships ,..,rtt, gOYemment. local
authormes. local commenines, partners . suppliers and others
•,ve mpact on this profect . 

See V'tsion, Legacy and Reputation section 

Efficient Financing 
We aim to finance this pro]'ect as efficiently as possiole, to ensure
that we can mmlllmse our impact on b I pay·e,-s in the future.

See Financing section 

Stakeholder Value 

London 
• Reconnecting London with the River T'lames

• Ensuring that we leave a posmve and lasting
legacy for London

• Developing e nver economy

Our people 
• A unique and innovative pro¡ect •Mth

a focus on learning and development

• A safe and inclusive workplace

• A competitrve and fair compensation
package that mcenfivises delivery 
and rewards success

Environment 
• A posinve impact on the tidal Ri'lo'ef Thames.

throu~ the development of the tunnel 

• Ensuring . ,.,.·here we can. that we reduce 
our en\!Ïronmental impact

Communities 
• i=lrovidùng a river that locals deserve

and canuse 

• Enhanced local landscapes for 
reclaim ed land and p,ubíic art 

BillPayers

• Mnirmsing the impact on 
Thames Water waste-,~.rter cusiomers 

Investors 
• An appropna!e return on thell" imrestment

Industry} Supply cha·

• Prov'drng opporturutíes for comparues
and for wodœrs to develoo ski Is and 
gam experience

• Indu.st,,¡ leading ,nnovabons that
a,-e shared vsa i3P
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Stakeholder engagement 

To be regarded as truly successful, we believe the Thames Tideway Tunnel must leave a wider legacy
than just a cleaner, healthier Thames. Part of this legacy will be judged by the project's overall reputation
once it is delivered.

We want to reconnect London with its river and engage with stakeholders at all levels, including elected
representatives, opinion formers, interest groups and local communities, to help achieve this. We use
the quarterly TTT Forum to bring together representatives of the directly affected boroughs and other
statutory consultees.

ln particular, we engage fully with local communities by proactively informing them about the project
through targeted communications to residents and site-specific online information, while dealing with
their issues on a one-to-one basis via locally-based teams and a 24-hour helpdesk.

We have independently-chaired community liaison working groups (CLWGs) at some of our live sites
and community information centres at our main drive sites.
Category -------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Key Government and regulatory 
stakeholders 

Stakeholder 

Consentmg bodies and
delivery partners

Communities directly impacted
by constructioo

Independent roles and assurance

Independent Tedmical Assesso< (ITA): 
The ITA,..,...,, Todew.,y and Thames Wms 
reportà,g lo the Limson Conwrttee.

Independent Oiaamanof Todew.,y Repo,bng
Group . whdl is a ~ set up to oversee 
s!Dlœholder"'1'.)0f11no.He also oversees 
lhe ICP and ICC.'

"Independen t Chaorm an loe TTT Forum'. 

Adcibonolly , there 3"9 3 v.,nelyo/ ndependenl
..,_,,,. ...-1o-, ..-,., -- b.dependeol Ad,riso,y Semce (IAS): 
The IAS olf..s ,ndependent help and support 
tostakoholders lM,o andworlang dose to 
ow oonstrucbon sites.

lndependeol Compensation Panel ~CP), 
ThelCP<Mll'SeeSandde1errmlesdaims 
Ol3de - ony ol the noo-sblutory
oompensanon pol,oes

Independent Complaints Commissioner OCCt­ 
The ICC """'515 stakdiolde<3 who are not sol:lsfiod
with lhe ICP's response rega,ding a clam. 
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Our Vision, Values, and Strategy 
Our vision 

Our vision is to reconnect London
with the River Thames.

■ v-.saon 
■Aim
■ Cornparw Objecti vss

Tideway's business is to design, build, commission and maintain the TTT, to leave our capital city's
river cleaner than it has probably been for over a hundred years. This alone could be a sufficient
ambition for Tideway, but we believe that seeing the TTT simply as an engineering endeavour would
be a huge lost opportunity. Our focus is not just what we are doing, but how we are doing it and the
broader benefits we can deliver to the range of stakeholders we affect.

The increase in sewage pollution over many decades caused London to turn its back to the river,
breaking the once vital link between London and the Thames. We aim to re-establish that connection.
Furthermore, in a city where roads are getting busier every year, wherever possible we are using the
river to transport our materials, with the aim of revitalising the river economy and reducing road
congestion, making the roads safer.

Equally, when the Thames Tideway Tunnel is commissioned, and the river's health is restored,
Londoners will be able to reconsider the river's leisure value. That could mean more water sports,
pursuits on the foreshore, fishing or simply the enjoyment of being near a clean and healthy
watercourse.

Our values 

Our values:

• Safety: Transform the health, safety and wellbeing of all;
• Legacy: Create a healthier future for London;
• Collaboration: Working together as an effective team;
• Respect: For people, places and resources; and
• Innovation: Striving for excellence in project delivery.

10 
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We understand the significance of what we are doing and are proud of its importance for London's
future health and prosperity. We are also very clear that we will not achieve it at any cost. First and
foremost is the safety of those employed through us and of the public we work amongst. We intend to
do things safely or not at all.

We recognise that we will be a distraction for our neighbours and those with whom we come in contact.
We want to develop our relationships with our stakeholders, as we recognise that we will be more
effective and efficient when we treat everyone with respect, empathy and integrity - treating people as
we would like to be treated.

We know we need to be clear in our intentions and communications and must respect our environment.
We are inspired by what we are doing, and we hope to inspire others by what we do, how we do it and
the potential for London that we will unlock.

Our strategy 

Throughout the year, we ensured that our targets and aspirations encouraged and allowed us to deliver
best performance for all our key stakeholders. To develop our targets and aspirations we assessed our
performance against our key performance indicators and stakeholder requirements. Additionally, we
assessed the current external environment and future industry trends, which allowed us to identify areas
of best practice and areas for improvement.

The Executive Team and the Board discussed the insights from this exercise. We used the lessons
learned to develop our ambitions and targets and to provide best value and resilience to our
shareholders and stakeholders. To ensure that awareness of, and commitment to, these aspirations
spreads throughout Tideway, we use the most important performance indicators in allocating company
bonuses for all staff and personal bonus measures for the executive directors. We report the
performance against these indicators publicly.

Through this process, we found that we had made significant progress against most of our key
performance indicators and priorities, with some areas requiring further work in the coming year. The
external environment had also changed quite significantly, particularly in the political and supply chain
space, and the understanding of this helped shape our future priorities. Lastly, we reviewed a variety of
schedule milestones based on an internal review and assessment of the external environment across
a range of areas including designs, consents, mobilisation of sites and marine activity.

The outcomes of this review resulted in refinements to our long-term objectives and activities. The
notable changes were as follows:

• For Health, Safety, and Wellbeing, we added 'Drive for an equivalent high level of HSW
performance in the marine environment'. This was included as marine works will be a lasting
legacy for Tideway and require prioritisation as we are developing it from the ground up;

• For Company and People, we added 'reinforcing Tideway's values and behaviours' to
emphasise its importance as we enter a stable phase of the project and focus on
empowerment to improve efficiency and effectiveness; and

• Schedule, Cost and Quality: We adjusted the objective to reflect our focus on 'delivering the
Thames Tideway Tunnel safely at the right quality and to best value'.

Our strategy is set out in detail on the following pages.
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2018/19 Strategy 

@ Health, Safety and Wellbeing

Objective and Outcome:
We are targeting z.aro fatalibes or senous in¡unes, off-
or on-site. We wfll ach 1& ',10 this ti,¡ setting new standards
ftll' health, safety ancl wellbeing.. · s is e right thing 1o 
do kw those im,,olved, as w as imJl'O'olÍng ¡:rnductilrit)•
and reducing the cha.nee of delB'JS or stoppage&.

Key Long Term Activibes:

• An HSW programme which is recognised EIS

lranafurmationa.l · n comparison to previous proÎl9Cis

• Deivaring HSW the 'Ri¡tlìWa,¡", in !ine 'i\óith the
deivery programme, ,•erìfied by ap~a:ssurance

• Maintaining a focus on heal a;nd welllleing.
to achielte relative peril:j' willtt s!lfet>¡

• Driving for en 81p'ú!lern high level ar HSW
peñonnence in lhe marine emlironment

Priorities for 2018/19 :

• Reinforce HS't'i periormanoe in the cons1ruction pha'SI!!,
which D'n'S oontinued imprau'E!ITlent in comperisnn
io prEMOUB projects

Relevant Principal Ris.ks:

• Hea,lth. safety and wellbeâng 

• High ißlilEIICt low probabilily e¡ranis 

@ Schedule, Cost and Quality

Objective and Outcome:
We wal'l'l to delj,,-er the Thames TidE!'ha)• Tunnel safely
at the right qualify and to best value. Finr~ing earliŒ
woukl reduce cost. benefiting biJl pa-fers and in\•estCKS.
deln.Œ enYironmeotel benefi s more quickly• and reduce
áisruption to loca! residents.

Kay Long Term Activities: 

• Enabling all our delÏ'llery partners 1o safe~· deli•,•er
the project moca efficioot~• and at !ewer cost, and
usmg the Altiance 1lo best effect

• Maintaining our focus on delÏ'tlering a high-quality,
fit lor purpose asset and its in18gration into the •Nilder 
SB'IIE!I' network 

Priorities for 2018/10:
• Werk wit 1he Programme Manager k> clefM!r 

the best ~ ue lor mo~• sched1.1le passible

• ',',Ion. 'ñ'ith 1be Prag-emme Manager to ensure ihe P.rNCs· 
marine operations ere · n line •with our requirements

• Seek air epprop-iate cpportuni1Jes 1o inaae.sa efficteno,"

• Ensure l:hat the esset being deJ¡,,,erecf ía of the ñ,¡¡r.t q,.aföty

• D11','elop our relationship with TW'lJL as în1BcfBOBs
e•,¡o,lve at all 111',•ela. 11D suppen effidernt deli118fY

Relavent Princip Risks:

• Programme de ver,• 
• Suppl-¡. cheën failure

• High impact. low probability E'llents

• I ntarlaœs 'A'Íth Thames Water infras1ructure

• Regulation

• Brexít

12 
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Vision, Legacy
and Reputation

Objective and Outcome:
We want to create a suppornve
environment for deliYering the 1unnel
and buitd e positill'e reputation wi
o..- stakeholders_ looking after ocir
netg bours and stakaho erared!.lces
the, scope for delays. so we can
deli~•E!f' the tunners benefits as
soon as possible. 

Key long Term Activities: 

• Ensuring continued !}Cod rel:aillìons
with s1akeholders, incluc:ling
the consent ¡,-anting bodies

• Addressing the needs and 
concerns of our n.eigl,bours

• Deli•;afing on ffll al Ofl..- legaa¡ p!Bll".s

• Rrot:eciling Bllld promcting 
T llde,,w,/s reputation

Priorities for 2.018119': 

• Refine our stakehallder and
neegfilbourengagement prn,gcamme
in a :s1ructured and tergl!iled •11,1-ay, 
to gipport efficient defi~,ar.!I

Relevant Pmcipal Rislœ: 

• Hli!Jh impact. lmw probBJl!ilfruy e•,,eni!:s

• Roap,tetion

Company 
and People

01:>¡ectiYe end Outcome: 
A. hlgh---per11Xming, motivated
and el'!,g¡aged 'florkforce wi[ll deli~10r
ba~ value erd help us recruit 
end retair people_

Key lDflg Tem1 Activities:

• lmp,Jemen1Ì'ng our diversil'.I'
¡rc,;¡ramma

• Pro•.,iclin,g tre:inin,g and dE!'~elopment.
and suooessi,or planning

• Offaring competïtr.·e tem1<S and
condi1ions, bE!f!1£1tits and incenti~,es

• Delbiai!Tlg sy-slems,. processes
end oor,s to S(j¡Jlport an effecti'tB
cw¡Janr.sa.tion

• Heinforoing ,ld,;;,1o,¡r,/s values
arid baf-..a•..iours

Priorities fol' 2018119: 

• 8.iol· •e the œpabilitiesof the
cr¡;¡i111·satìon ti! suppcft eoo 
e.ooa•ura,¡¡e efficientdeli·~el'¡' through
a moti•,\3tsd and em¡poWEffld teem

Re,e Princip Risks:

• High im¡pai..-t. fow ¡::ro!J¿¡bílity- e•,'Br:ts 

• R'-aputa.tion

© Ftnancing

Objective and Outcome:
We aim to dalil!Elr e.ffioient financing
end financial risk menagemenl,.
whioh minimises our cost of capi.tal
end supports our irwestmem grade
credit rating.

Key Lon,g TermActivities: 

• Maintaining a k:i>N-risk ffinancing
position by preseninQ our Bea11 
BBB+ credit ratings 

• Maintaining aµp-o¡pmiœ le,;els
of liiquidi\y

• Qptimisilltg oor cost od' fiinamce. m
incl'83Jse our return 1o ·shen!holdetrs

• Con1ñnwng 1o build tru'St aind 
con1idienoe wiUI our stallœhold!!r.s
hough highi-qJJI Bfi:tiJ repootinr,¡,
enQEIQ!Bmanland 55surance

Priorities for 2018/19:

• Slupprnrt the organmtion bo
dslliller-the best rssíl..111bbiill
plr!'etrS and slllarah dldem 

• Undertakeoppoc-dllm iisliii: fundïmg
issuance .acros:s. furmem

• Conliinue ifocus on ca¡p '.tal 
preserwrt!iCln and ffiquúmfy
Elilld seek to C11]1ïunise returns

Relevant Pñncipal Risks:

• Programme delfnrery

• High illl¡Jl0ci, bn• probElbíliiti¡ eu'Elms

• FiinSillcing

• flation

• Ragu ation

• Br-e.om 
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Risk Management 

Our risk appetite 

To manage the risks we face, we need to define our risk appetite, which is the level of residual risk that
we are ready to take. Although this appetite recognises the agreements that underpin our delivery model,
such as our Licence and the GSP, our Board can further refine the residual risk through the strategies it
sets. While setting these strategies, a focus on operational, financial, and corporate resilience across
Tideway's activities has been crucial, as it helps to ensure that we take a long-term view on risk.

Tideway's risk policy is to 'target an overall Company risk profile consistent with a regulated UK water
utility'. This reflects our Board's risk appetite, which is low. The Board's appetite for risk has been at the
core of the main strategic decisions that it has taken to date, such as:

• Setting new standards for health, safety and wellbeing by developing programmes such as
RightWay, to support our target of zero fatalities or serious injuries, off-site or on-site.

• Requiring industry leading operational standards on the river, through our compliance with the
code of practice and validation of worker skills via new training approaches, such as the vessel
simulation training facility.

• Mitigating liquidity risk and interest rate risk, by raising significant amounts of long-term debt
well in advance of needing the financing.

Finally, in our financing strategy we have set a target to maintain a robust investment grade credit rating
at all times, which provides a tangible external benchmark of the Board's appetite for risk.

Our risk management framework 
BOARD

Ultimately responsible for 
effectiveness of nsk management · 

and internal control system

. .......................... . . . . .
AUDIT 

COMIIITTEE 
BOARD RISK
COII IIIITIEE 

CARO 
EXECUTIVE RISK 

COMMITTEE 
Prog¡a, li Id Risks

EXECUTIVE LEADERSHIP TEAM 
Accountable lor the design and 

ímplementatioo of the risk management 
processes and the consistent application 

of risk management systems and 
management of ca,porate risks . .......................... . . ..., .., 

...... . .. . . . 

.... -:. . . . . ..... .. . . .. . 

CORPORATE 
RISKS

Risks which
are managed 
by Tideway

PROGRAMME
RISKS

Risks which 
are managed 
bytheMWCs
and/or T ,deway
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Our ability to deliver the positive outcomes we want to achieve for all of our stakeholders depends on our
ability to manage risk.

Risk management is embedded in our culture and is central to achieving our objectives and priorities. We
have developed and implemented a framework which gives us a clearly defined process for identifying,
analysing and controlling both corporate and project delivery risks throughout the business. Our approach
includes actively monitoring risks, which are maintained on a comprehensive risk management database.
This database, called Active Risk Manager, includes quantifications of project risks in terms of potential
cost and schedule impact, and allows us to monitor the effectiveness of our mitigating actions.

The Compliance and Assurance Review Group (CARG) is a CEO-led group focused on reviewing the
Group's activities, both as the client or through the PM and MWCs. lt applies the three lines of defence
model, to review the appropriateness and compliance with our controls and assurance activities.

The Board Risk Committee reviews our principal risks and risk management processes and reports its
findings to the Board. The Executive Risk Committee considers on a rolling basis the programme risks
across the West, Central and East areas. During the year, we separated out the review of corporate risks
from programme risks, to strengthen the approach to both risk groups.

Throughout this risk management process, we actively review and manage new and emerging risks. ln
the year, we continued to review our exposure to cyber risk, due to its rising prevalence. This resulted in
strengthened internal systems and the refinement of current processes. Due to these mitigations and the
residual impact should an attack occur, we continue to believe this is not a principal risk for Tideway.

Principal risks 

Set out below are our principal risks, which are those that could have a material adverse impact on our
business, reputation or financial condition. Each principal risk is owned and managed by a named member
of the senior management team.

The past year has yet again seen considerable progress across the project, which is continuing to have
a positive impact on our principal risks. The Operational Performance Review and Finance Review
sections set out the specific progress we have made in the year, particularly with respect to our continued
focus on health, safety and wellbeing and construction.

The main changes in the year have been:

• a reduction in our reputation risk, to reflect our strengthened relationship with key stakeholders;
• an increase in Thames Water Performance risk, reflecting asset and performance issues whilst

acknowledging a co-operative approach; and
• the addition of political risk to the existing regulatory risk. This is to reflect the increased political

scrutiny of the water sector and other regulated industries.

lt has been another successful year for our financing, as we secured a significant amount of our long term
external debt requirements which improved certainty over our financing costs and provides liquidity to
System Acceptance. Because of our financing activities, we have been able to remove interest rate risk
from financing risks.

Further detail on changes in the year are included within the principal risk table on the next page.
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PRJNCIPAL R1SK TABLE 
Set out in the table are o..- pf"lllCip.al
rrsks, 11h1ch are those chat could
t-.ave a. rnatanat adverse mpact on
our business. <eputatron Of' ñnanci I 

oond 'IPon. Each principBJ ns 1s o vned 
and managed by a named mem~
of 1he :sentor management team. 

e
-B a.
'C

i
e!

ealth, Safety 
andWe ing 

The h,ealtt;. sa.fat~· and wel being
of our empk>)•ees and the public
is paramount. There is a nsi.. 1hat
ircideirrts ,::,ould cause arm to 
in1fü 1oua1 s and dáat progress.
2018t19 sees mobilís.ation a.f u I
mairioo capabi it<¡, 111hich brr-ngs
wrth il associated ">Belth. safett,'
and 'nlE'llbellllg ris s.

J 
l&I 

2 Programme 
Delivery 

We are del1'.'Bnng a capila
investment proqrarnme o
£3.5bn (£3.1b 201-,,.•5 prices!.

ile there is experience of
defi~'ßnng similar projects ,n
LOnclon, it is pos.slb e than th.e
construe ion coulìd alite long­
than planned a.ndi'OI' cost more.

A sa.fefy ·a1JuM oould cause 1njur¡,
affect heal ami 'n'llllbeing or lead
to oss of life. A sangle sieoo s e,11ent 

Cli' muftiple e•.-,mts coukt also lead
to deliay·s or stoppBl)Bs that cou Id
p=•ent us meeting our time and 
cost tarqets, 

A delB.'J' n delivel'ing the runnel ,,rould
dela.y Londoners' benefits liu,m fue
project and could attract regula.1er¡
en!on::ement. Coot increese5 3tio~'!l
1he regulatOf)' baseline 'AIOU[ld
lflCrea,s,e CÌk3rges to 1hose customers
receiving wholesale seri,llCes from
Thames Water. inaease nar,cing
requìremanlis 311d rerllJICe returns
for- our shenmolòers.

,,,,"e are inupllemenoog our Ri¡titWa'.¡' 
prog,amme. ,..,,hich is a.ligned to !he
deírv~ porogramlllllla lt uncßudeG the
R;i91hl1Start ap'IJroach e<stablish1111g
the 'tf8(!¡' hest faici ·es and
Bmlll!I Q!i!ITl STitts •!lffl-'s:ita_ We are also
coniflïnujng amd ,rleuela•p11n91 OUI' IEP!IC
PfOl!IIBffirl1lB. •.-.•h1oh is .and.atad for
ell ¡¡:ieaple 'lf0rk1ng on our sites and
u ditff>arentt ptllllS¡oecti·,•e sctnrities..
Îll!ICllllldÏITIQI

e

I 
*:E 

Our ap¡¡:iroaoh to selecting am,d 
working wi 01.11' co rectora ,...,m 
help us t.o deli·,•er 1he p•rn,gramlmlll!
on time and l!o b,ud!JBL Thcs Ïl1lcludas:

• Warld-<:lass oorn~o,s, w fh 
ex:perience of tunoolfi·n91 1!11 n«r,clomi

• Con1rac,ts that lra1111sfercertam
risks 'lo OUT oornracbors 1fr,m they
aire betiter ¡¡:if.a.ceci bo mamiege

• E.stabliah111>Bnt of ti)B .Alföance,
1o enoot.Jn1ge co-operanon Blîfd
s pport a,cros-s 1he proÍJ!lC1

• .~n 1ntegratEcL ¡¡:iroacfa'I! approach
1o risk maruigemenl 

- . ,~
f! co

• He13.I h., Saffet~• e;nd W'ellbet1r1g • Scheoule_ Cost. end Qual }'

• financing

No cilange in risk level•

'•'•le hB.'~e ar:tÍII\Blt re-,•iero\'9Cll 1tnia risk
during the ~'!lar. paat»::.'l.lleJrl)' as ,..,e
ha11e o:t1>0 loil':s,aal on the .ajomty 
of our sites. A.dliitionall)•, we have
u¡odateó Iha risk descrip'1:io to
refflect Iha · mpartance of ensurinq
we mobilise ma ne capabúiey
aafely a.s it ramps él?-

No cheng a in risk laver 
Overal, our assessmeot or the
risk and mit,gatio.- eas :.111es

une ~nge,d, wi1t- some cost
pressures baesnced b,; oontlngenc-y-,
oo ·ing through i ö:,e year.
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3 Supply Chain 
Failure 

Our deli-ve•")' strategy is based
on outsourcing works. Our eo 1ty
to deli•,'Br therefore deperds on
our cortractors· performer.ce
Our contractors operate ..n 3 ,¡er;
competitive enw-onmen and may
experience financial difficu ties
1hrough the deüv-ery of the pro¡ect

4 High impact, 1Jow prob
(HILP) e ants 

Ma¡or Irî'\restmem programmes are
complex and e allenging and we
could suifer · ncKlents that '"''llre h1gr~~·
urtlilœl'i' IJ.ut ha-,•e a significant . µac _

se cou affect the runnel or
asseès b-elonging to others.

5 Financial
riaka

Credit Ratings Risk
Ach'9rse operational or financial
performance. or factors extsmal
o the Company. could re;s•J1I

in a credit rattng downgrade.

1f our contractors do oot d 3 

the standartís 'i,'8 e pect, we m.r.!'
not be able to delivef" Ota" m•.-es ent
program.me on time a d on budget

HLP B"ijents could h:a'<'E! a significant
e ect on cost. sohedlllle. ~-eafth and
safe 'J Dr our r-aputation. Their financial
impact cowlcll E(l(c,ee.j mx 1nsl!Jlfa ce
cc1,,er. damaging -our f.inanc1.al positDOr,
and 01U1r abirt-y- to •deli•,10r the t.mnel 

The loss o an invasfment ÇJ"ade
creái ra11r>g ,,.aui,d affect 0<..r
ability to rasse debt.

The proc- rament process ensured
our contractors were techn:ic ~• 
exoellent and financiellìy strong.
and limited our exposure to ,my 
one oo ~actor. The cor.tracts
oontain ste rights. 11.•oorsh:,• -ooe
ooetractor OQIJ¡ld replaoe another. 
'i'l'hioh .would help miti!}31:e agam s.t 
fiRlllnd ful¡lure. The merneers o1 
all threoe consorna a;re joint EIJ1!d
se,•eralfy liatJ.le.

We rmnim1se the cé:,em~e !li the5'B
£nl'!ln,ts accU1m111g l!J~• .1sin,g h,esl!-in-dass
desig¡n. prog¡ramrume ma.nage<ment an.ci
apprn10ria.1B construction t-aclrimqr.J1Bs.
Ourr oot!ltracatNra 18.','!l ax:ilE si•,10 
ax:pen,enoa ,uf símil.ar p<rojects i1111 

l.c<nala<n and <\'E! mamalBtE comolèEinc,e
111i 1fl-e Joorrnt C.cœ of nee a<r
Ri:sll, M.ana.gememrt of .1;11mmellíing
1/llboo in ,e UK. hrn tiria un liilllll'tl e,,,;mt
that ,,;e ,alr,e a olBJ lt.at e;-,.ceedls
the limiits .of ol!lll" inst.llfBlr.>ce.. the GSP
pro•;ide,s su¡opcrt

We ha.•.-e a rooost defr•,10ry· model 
•.u1thi a. reg11la.ted mE!'oork. ernd
a GS P. Maintaining or impro•,•iu-,ig
the meline ro deilrer the unnsl
wilil en . ance confidence in our
credi ,vorthinBSS. We mBJrnBllll 3
conser,,ative financiBJ profiile am,rl 
ac'WBly mBR3¡pa risks. 111tle re¡p:Jilarly
enga,ge 1mth rating a,genci,es.

• Schedule, Cost, aoo Qualiit,i • Health. S..afä:<l'JI BJnó 1i'•'elCheing

• C,om,pa;n~• and People
• Scr-..oolufia. Cost, amai Qu¡¡¡¡lit')•

• Fitr.ancin,g

• lo\'isic<n. lege.a¡, amai Retputa ion

• Fiimumcing¡

No cha111Qe in risk lever
We cauduct.ed a ull rer~iev,• crf ooir

supp~J' chain íincbd.ing suooontra,.,-tor~
to asseas the risk •111'ithin our cootrar.:ts.
due co Caril!ion going into liquida.iron
eaiier in he 'f'BBr. e•,'Bn thou!lh rt is na,t
part of our suppt,,• cha.in. This 'o\o'.EIS in 

addition to our business as usual supp,ty
chain reNiEM'S.. We continua to rnomtor
this cloaely and ha,;e underni.œn 
appropriate oontingencJ planmng.

No change in risk levee- Risk mcre-ased' 
/Ne •,·ieil' tltne risk as broaól'y umchari,ged. 1...,e note l,tood!(s. has red•!llced its

rating o the w-a!a sector's reo!JUl la.tory
re,gime fro A.as o /!ta. 

•compared to previous year

17



Bazalgette Equity Limited
Annual report and financial statements

6 Inflation
Riak 8 Thames ater 

Performance 

ere s a nsl>. of nfla1Ioo that Is lo·,1,er
than assumed n Ola" business pan

1!! • 
• .:i
I i .. Ì a: ß 

W,e 3re particular~, foc sed or 1he ns ·
ha poor p€'f'form ance -or our srtes, on

th,a rl','Br cr ,wit!r, our n.eighbours could
damag e our raputation and suppor .

Thames 'Nater ,sa key paltr>er
for T-deway We ~ B'./E! a r umber of
mportant interactions with Thames
Weter. includir,g its delivery ofthe
Thames 'Na er \~orks d,ca-,r,,g he
cor·struct ion period. the Hendo•.-er
and Acceptance process and in
tt,e operanonaì penco.

Thames Wa er also passes
1'181J 1Bnllil8 throug to Tidern-ay.

Ourre•,-enues are direc1fy lmked
to the Re1ail Pooe Index (RPI).
and lower intlelJOn woukl herefore
reduce our cas flow unless our
costs moved on tbe same bases. 

Ow RCV is indexed to RPI until 2030, 
and lower inffa ion 11.rouLd reduce
nomir.!1I cashftows and return s.. 

The loss of 9!Jlppcrt from our
neighbours ocr conseet grantir,g boctiíe s
coutd lead to dela~•s a.nd higher coots

Thames t.','ater's failure to òek,ar -ts 
snare of the ,vorks oo Id affect our
ab.lir¡ to delnrer oœ in~·es1ment
program me on time and on budQet.

Thames ',','ate, doss not co ply •n~th
tr·e Revenue Agreement, i could har,•e
a financie/ impact,

iideWB'/ has issued P and
CPl,-indexed debt. A',aductions in
1'8'\1emJe due ID lo'lr irfi3t ion wouLd
thernfore be parna ll'¡I offsat ty_,, 
red lllK:tions in llerest cost,

,,e rnsllil ing correlaoon bet\\leen
nominal RC\r end oo nal debt
.,,,iilf help to protect equ:ièt,' rerum s.

,,,,le aoli•tll!~.I' oo•.-Elbp• œlatic,n--slr1ps
'llutln kiB\I 5.t.allœt"JOkllars. Fœ- e.>ampla.
throu¡t¡ our G 1 ',1Gs ,,ie seek tll f.il'ltl
ths h€Gt ''113\1ª of addressing neoghiJo<lJlíll '
cancemis,in arl •11,mce ,of •narks h.3!Dpaning.

The "re--b¡-lri •,131' sllra!!Bg¡s will see
us .1151 ng 1ha rr-;l!I" wheœ,•'E!f fœs ilole
11D Ba98 can~n and to ¡orc,motE 
the UliB of fue l'l'l>et'.

,,,,',a ha<,'8' ss.œliShed 1hs :dewll'J' brand.
ea ¡oart -mf our Hfb1s 1Ill build IJrUst ami
confidence and •CC!llll1lmunicate the e;;¡ao,.
amd l,:mg..1Enrnl, banel'ibs we 3im 11D delb;&

Tide•A·ay and Thames 1,•,1a er lni3•,-e 
..,.'0,-lœd e.los~• toge ther throug~
all ka\l· iles1ones 'lo de:18 .

The /..llianœ ,i!,,greemant ircl!t'l l:h•ises
Thames 'Nater to r>elJJ us -deli•,-er
1he p<!o,gr3mm,a

Thames •Na er is also inœntiu•ísed
to deli•,,ar its shBJra of the w,□,ik:s
11n 3 timef'Y· mam11Br, through its
regu latol'} settlama nt.

'-1,e haw •,rorked wtth heme s Water
1o -d8118 klp and agree airra ngeman:t:s
for managing the l"El' ,1enue nrocess.

• Fnmmcim,g • CompBll'l!I · and ?eopts

• \l'Í!!i11nm1, L..egatc~•, and Rep,uttsrt: iom,

• Sch,adlu le, Cost, and OuaJll 'I' 

No change m risk lettel" Risk. reduced'
1JJ',a •~ig,w the n:sk es broacì/i,- ,.,nchBl!l!Jetl. As ,w .a•,-e natn• mob di:sed º"" most

c<f o•.llí sites airtd de•Elopad reta1ionsh1ps
Wll1h staJ¡¡ghaJdara. !!his ris - haa been
rsduced We -oo,i,tnnue t>o ccrduct a 
prcect111e comml.JJll Î!::a icr, streleg~•- 
m mBl!"a,ge the raputatiar.· I omp.a,ct
elf or.JI!' •11arks.

Risk increased* 
There ha';e bean same operanona,

=llenges in the past í'eer. <'•ho:;.h
ti.au-e increased hes ris . /lle are
•1torí<l11'Q cjcse y 'r't'lth Thames 1,','arsr
1o m ·gate 1his.. 
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Long-term viability statement 
The UK Corporate Governance Code requires company directors to state whether they have a reasonable
expectation that Tideway will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over
a long-term period.
To assess the Group's long-term viability, the Board has:

• identified the most appropriate period over which to make the assessment;
• evaluated the Tideway's current position and future prospects; and
• considered the potential impact of principal risks over the period and, where

appropriate, analysed the potential financial impact under a suitable set of sensitivities.

The Board considers that it is now appropriate to assess the Tideway's viability over the period to 2030,
in line with Tideway's current regulatory period. This time horizon is supported by the progress made in
the implementation of our investment programme to date, and the significant de-risking of our financing
plan achieved during the last year. This period extends beyond the forecast timeline for delivery of the
Thames Tideway Tunnel and System Acceptance by Thames Water but is still covered by Tideway's
planning horizon which extends to the end of the current regulatory period (2030). The Board is not aware
of any specific relevant factors that would affect this statement beyond this period and therefore has no
reason to believe Tideway will not be viable over a longer period.

The viability assessment takes into account our business and financing plan which is prepared as part of
our annual planning process. The plan is consistent with our performance since Ofwat granted our Licence
in August 2015 and with our financial position at the end of the financial year. ln the period covered by
this Annual Report, we continued to implement our financing plan and raised £1.05bn of long-dated debt.
Post period end we raised additional £325m in long-dated bonds. Tideway has now raised £2.5bn of long­
term financing since Licence Award, and we would be able to fund our operating activities and fixed
charges until 2030, using cash available in our balance sheet, the committed and undrawn debt facilities
(including the £750m Revolving Credit Facility), and the revenue we will generate over the period.

Where appropriate during the year, we conduct sensitivity analysis on our financial model to stress-test
the resilience of Tideway and our business model to the potential impact of our principal risks, or a
combination of those risks. For the purposes of this assessment, we have considered the likely impact of
each principal risk on Tideway's viability, taking into account the availability and effectiveness of risk
mitigation plans and the measures we could realistically take to avoid or reduce the impact or occurrence
of the underlying risks. ln considering the likely effectiveness of such actions, we take into account the
Board's regular monitoring and review of risk management and internal control systems.

We have assessed the potential impact of the principal risks on Tideway's viability by modelling a number
of scenarios, which have been discussed and agreed by the Board. We consider that there are three key
routes through which viability could be impacted: increases in the total cost of the project, reduction in
outturn inflation, and an increase in bad debt. For each of these routes, we have modelled three scenarios
representing impacts ranging from moderate to severe. For increases in the total cost we have modelled
10%, 20% and 30% increases in remaining cost to complete the project. For inflation risk we have
modelled scenarios where outturn inflation is 1 % and 2% lower than current expectations, as well as a
scenario with 0% average inflation in the period. For bad debt, we have assumed a 50% lower revenue
collection in one, two and four years in the period. Finally, we have modelled a combined scenario with
20% cost increase, 2% lower inflation and 50% revenue under recovery for 2 years, which we consider a
reasonable 'worst case' combination of impacts given that we do not believe principal risks are strongly
correlated.

The Board confirms that it conducted a robust assessment of the principal risks facing Tideway, including
those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency and/or liquidity, and which
are set out in the Principal Risks section of this report.

The outcome of the sensitivities has been assessed considering a range of different financial ratios. ln
all downside scenarios modelled, the ratios are robust, above the minimum requirements in our financing
covenants and consistent with an investment grade rating, and Tideway does not call on the Government
Support Package. The output of this analysis is summarised in the following table.
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ln reaching its conclusion, the Board has taken into account Ofwat's statutory duty to secure that
companies can finance their functions and has assumed that there will be no changes to the regulatory
framework or Government policy that will affect Tideway's viability.

The Board also believes that financing will be available to Tideway over the period covered by the
analysis, although given Tideway's liquidity position this assumption is no longer critical to arrive at the
conclusion. ln this respect, the Board believes that it is reasonable to assume that the purchasers of our
deferred bonds will honour their commitments given the diversification and credit worthiness of the
institutions with which Tideway has entered into such agreements.

We have undertaken a range of internal assurance activities, which the Board considers provide a robust
degree of assurance over the analysis. This long-term viability statement has also been reviewed by
KPMG as part of the statutory audit. The Board considers that this combination of internal and external
assurance means that checks have been carried out by parties with the most appropriate skills and
knowledge.

On the basis of the robust assessment of our principal risks, and on the assumption that we manage or
mitigate them in the ways disclosed, the Board's review of the business plan and other matters considered
and reviewed during the year, and the results of our sensitivity analysis and assurance described above,
the Board has a reasonable expectation that Tideway will be able to continue in operation and meet its
liabilities as they fall due over the period to 2030.

The Board has also considered it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on the going concern
basis. The Directors believe, after due careful enquiry, that Tideway and Group have sufficient resources
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future and therefore consider it appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the 2018 financial statements.
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Definition:
Major Injuries: Any serious injury that results in permanent disability, long-term medical problems or shortened life expectancy (i.e. life changing).
AFR-3: 12-month rolling average, per 100,000 hours worked, of injuries which occurred as a result of work activities and resulted in more than three
days lost time for the individual involved. Injuries included in AFR-7 will automatically be included in AFR-3.
AFR-7: 12-month rolling average, per 100,000 hours worked, of injuries which occurred as a result of work activities and resulted in more than seven
days lost time for the individual involved. Injuries included in AFR-7 will automatically be included in AFR-3.

Our priorities and performance for the year 

Tideway's health, safety and wellbeing (HSW) objective is to achieve zero fatalities or major injuries, off­
site and on-site. We will do this by setting new standards for HSW through our transformational
programme. This is the right thing to do for those involved, as well as improving productivity and reducing
the chance of delays or stoppages.

ln support of this, our priorities for 2017/18 were to:

• continue the RightStart programme introduced in 2016/17, which aimed to reduce the number of
incidents in the first six months on-site, when accidents typically occur;

• continue to focus on leading indicators and assessment through our Health and Safety
Performance Index (HSPI);

• validate Tideway's approach to HSW through employee engagement;
• ensure no increase in risk as a result of marine activities; and
• increase our focus on occupational health and wellbeing across the programme.

Despite the ramp up on most of our sites, we were pleased that there were no major injuries this year,
which was a significant achievement for both Tideway and the people working on the project. However,
we did have a number of lost time incidents, including four injuries which contributed to AFR-7. We are
committed to finding ways to do things better and we have investigated these lost time incidents and

22



Bazalgette Equity Limited
Annual report and financial statements

implemented the lessons learned. Overall, our AFR-7 of 0.09 compares very favourably with other large
infrastructure projects during their mobilisation phase, and we will strive to continue this.

We recognise the importance of measuring ourselves against others and were pleased to achieve second
place for a "medium sized" organisation in the new entrant category for Vitality's Britain's Healthiest
Workplace 2017 competition. The results have highlighted strengths and improvement areas, which we
will look into, as well as a clear direction for our health and wellbeing programme.

RightWay 

RightWay is Tideway's HSW strategy and approach. lt is shaped by:

• the recognition that 'we are all in it together', with a true sense of collaboration and a
commitment to a common goal;

• learning from previous projects, to identify best practice and implement it on Tideway;
• a supportive yet challenging collaboration between us and our supply chain;
• the creation of a supportive environment for our teams to thrive in; and
• the recognition that we need to focus on our people and innovative approaches, to push beyond

mere compliance and make significant improvement.

ln 2017/18, we embedded RightStart Reviews. These confirm that site start up and welfare arrangements
are effectively implemented in advance of any new works and that they meet Tideway's transformational
aspirations. RightStart Reviews complement standard readiness reviews, which confirm that all
engineering, health, safety and security, and consents requirements are in place. RightStart Reviews
ensure that we and the contractors discuss and agree the criteria that they are required to demonstrate,
for example relating to welfare or security.

The Transforming Health and Safety Working Group (THSG) is Alliance-wide. lt was established to look
at how we can make a difference to on-site activities, through the people involved in leading day-to-day
health and safety. During the year, the THSG improved its effectiveness and rigour by involving a broader
range of stakeholders and by improving the structure of its meetings, to ensure more transparency of sub­
group activities and greater visibility of actions raised in the group, to support the sharing of best practice.

EPIC 

We established our innovative and interactive induction programme, EPIC, in 2015/16 and it has been
widely recognised as industry leading. lt is a mandatory, one-day immersive induction course, using actors
and a structured management training approach to help every individual understand what we want to
achieve and how we can all work together to make Tideway the safest and healthiest project yet. EPIC
provides a common language for everyone joining Tideway, before they start work.

To date, over 12,000 employees and contractors have attended the programme, including approximately
4,900 in 2017/18. This includes people working on Tideway and from other interested companies, allowing
us to further improve health and safety in the industry.

Following feedback from drivers attending the induction, EPIC Logistics was developed and launched in
2017/18. This was also approved by the Driver and Vehicle Standards Agency. EPIC Logistics aims to
help HGV drivers on Tideway understand their role in ensuring the safety and wellbeing of everyone on
the project, as well as the public.

ln December 2017, Tideway, in partnership with Active Training Team, won the 'Health, Safety and
Wellbeing Initiative of the Year' category at the 2017 New Civil Engineer Tunnelling Awards. ln addition,
EPIC has been shortlisted for the following 2018/19 awards:

• Construction News Awards 2018 - 'Training Excellence' category
• Water Industry Achievement Awards 2018 - 'Health and Safety Initiative of the Year' category

for EPIC
• Ground Engineering Awards 2018 - 'Health and Safety Award' category.

HSPI 

We introduced HSPI in 2016/17. lt enables us to develop a balanced scorecard, so we can measure the
HSW performance of the contractors working on the project. HSPI comprises a set of leading performance
indicators, developed by analysing accident and incident data from previous projects and considering
future risk profiles. Each performance indicator is scored either:
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• O (does not meet basic HSW expectation);
• 1 (meets basic HSW expectations);
• 2 (exceeds HSW expectations); or
• 3 (meets transformational HSW expectations).

We review all indicators annually, to ensure they remain challenging and relevant to current and future
works and support our approach to transformational HSW. HSPI enables us to introduce targeted
improvements, specific to each MWC, to improve HSW on our sites further.

ln 2017/18, the overall HSPI score improved from 2.15 at 31 March 2017 to 2.24 at the end of March
2018, with 11 of the 14 measures meeting or exceeding an average score of two.

Health, Safety and Wellbeing Culture Survey 

Our first annual HSW Culture Survey completed in December. The survey explored employees' attitudes
and perceptions in key areas of HSW and was intended to identify further opportunities for improvement.
Initial reports were shared with the MWC and PM teams in January and we have identified initial areas of
improvement, such as managing stress. We are now carrying out further work to develop action plans to
address these improvement areas.

Mates in Mind 

We recognise that mental health is a major issue in our sector and is important to our people and the
project. Tideway is therefore a sponsor and early adopter of the Mates in Mind programme, which has
also been adopted by the MWCs and PM. Mates in Mind aims to raise awareness and understanding of
mental health and mental ill-health in construction, helping people to understand how, when and where
to get support and breaking through silence and stigma by promoting a culture of positive wellbeing
throughout the industry.

Start the Conversation

Tideway launched 'Start the Conversation' training sessions in February 2018, as part of the Mates in
Mind programme. The 45 minute sessions are delivered by trained Tideway employees and aim to create
general awareness and understanding of mental health and its biggest barriers, particularly in the
workplace. To date, 11 O Tideway employees have attended sessions, with further sessions being rolled
out by MWCs on sites across the programme.

Mental Health First Aiders

ln addition to training 40 mental health first aiders to date, we hosted our first Mental Health First Aiders
Networking Group event on 23 February. The group provides a support network for all trained mental
health first aiders on the programme. The networking events will be held regularly, ensuring attendees
are refreshed on key topics that were taught in training.

Marine Training 

Marine training is important because of the significant positive impact we can have as the river economy
develops. We are seeking to drive change in an industry that has had less attention to date than general
construction and as a result has a different culture.

Our HSW Training Team has worked extensively with Thames Skills Academy (TSA) to introduce a
Personal Survival course, which is suitable for our operatives. ln addition to providing information about
the riverside environments, the course allows candidates to experience entering the water with an auto­
inflating lifejacket. With the TSA, Tideway has worked with HR Wallingford to develop a programme for
Boat Masters and vessel Mates, including use of Thames river simulators. The programme continues to
be rolled out with the marine operators. During the year, 8 boat masters have been trained across the
programme, bringing the total over the project to 24.

The Marine Safety Group was formed in 2017/18 to encourage dialogue between marine contractors,
MWCs, Programme Manager and Tideway. This includes sharing of best practices and lessons learned
following incidents, and the development of new initiatives to help improve all aspects of marine
operations on Tideway.

The group identified two key actions for implementation across the programme:

• Development of an EPIC refresher module focused on marine safety, which is currently in the
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early development stage; and
• Engagement of an independent body to carry out an audit on marine activities. This was

conducted during the final quarter of 2017/18. The initial findings were presented at the Marine
Safety Working Group, with the final report currently being produced.

Security and Incident and Crisis Management 

During the year, we implemented new incident management procedures following a review of our
processes. The new procedures are now aligned to national best practice and the Joint Emergency
Services Interoperability Principles (JESIP). ln addition, we conducted two incident/crisis management
exercises at our head office, using a new exercise provider, London Resilience (the resilience forum for
London). This makes Tideway the first private sector company to conduct an exercise with London
Resilience.

Schedule, Cost and Quality 

Ftgure,s from 2017"t16 

De6very a inst the regulatory 
baser -cos

Target

£3.5
ua 

Delivery against the regulatory
baseline - schedule 

*Tideway's element of the programme in outturn prices (based on current inflationary expectations), up to System Acceptance by
Thames Water. Ofwat has set a regulatory baseline of £3.1 bn (in 2014/15 prices, with the total of £3.5bn in outturn prices)

Our priorities for the year 

Our objective is to deliver the Thames Tideway Tunnel safely at the right quality and to best value.
Finishing earlier would reduce cost, benefiting bill payers and investors, as well as delivering
environmental benefits more quickly and reducing disruption to local residents.

Our focus on the highest levels of safety, the best schedule possible and the most efficient use of the river
all serve our ambition to deliver the tunnel at the lowest possible cost.

Performance 

This has been a challenging but highly successful year, as we have significantly progressed design and
consenting and started on all but one of our sites. The change at many of our sites is clear to see, as we
look forward to starting tunnelling this year.

Our performance in the year is in line with the challenging targets we set ourselves to make a positive
start and de-risk the delivery of the project. The last year has a built a solid foundation on which we can
continue to deliver the project, ensuring we are in line with our regulatory cost of £3.Sbn (outturn prices)
and handover by quarter one 2024.
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To achieve this, we have worked through the challenges typical of the early phase of any major
infrastructure project in a busy city. These included developing high-quality designs, building teams with
the right skills and expertise, establishing the construction sites and securing the necessary consents, so
we could start major engineering works in some of the most congested areas of London. Making a positive
start, while keeping our people as safe as possible, has given us greater confidence on meeting our
schedule.

We have made significant progress at our three main drive sites. At Carnwath Road in the West, we have
constructed an acoustic shed to minimise disruption to residents and begun excavating the shaft. At
Kirtling Street in our Central section, we have excavated the shaft down to 53m and constructed the
launch tunnels for the TBMs. This is our first piece of tunnelling on the project and paves the way to launch
the TBMs later this year. At our Chambers Wharf site in the East, we have completed the construction of
a cofferdam to increase the size of the site. This has allowed us to install a diaphragm wall in the chalk,
in readiness for excavating the shaft.

ln preparation for receiving our TBMs, we held a public competition, with over 24,000 votes submitted, to
select names based on well-known women from the boroughs the machines will be launched from.
Following this, the project took delivery of three TBMs (Rachel, Millicent and Ursula) this year.
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During the year, we have seen our initiative to encourage the use of low entry cab (LEC) HGV's bear fruit,
with the first concrete deliveries from this type of vehicle. The LEC vehicles ensure better visibility for
drivers, reducing the likelihood of injuring vulnerable road users.

Commercial 

The Company has made certain scope changes under the contracts, such as the 'More by River' initiative
and changes at Blackfriars due to a reassessment of our interaction with other utilities. The combination
of these factors has resulted in an increase to each of the Main Works Contractors' target prices since
Licence Award. Due to this the Company has allocated contingency within the Regulatory Baseline to
reflect the increase in target prices. This contingency was included in the original baseline to recognise
the cost impact of Company retained risks. As we allocate contingency there is less unallocated
contingency available within the Regulatory Baseline to fund any Company retained risks that materialise
in future. However, as work progresses the Company has the benefit of greater clarity over the cost and
timing of the works generally. We remain on track to deliver the project to both time and our regulatory
baseline cost.

Working with our stakeholders 

Securing the consents required was key to achieving start on site. We have therefore worked closely with
all of the consent granting bodies: Transport for London (TfL), the Port of London Authority (PLA), the
Marine Maritime Organisation (MMO), the Environment Agency (EA) and local authorities. As we have
set up joint offices with the Project Manager and Main Works Contractors, we have focused on finding
ways to work as collaboratively as possible with the consent granting bodies, some of whom joined in the
co-location. As a result, we have developed good working relationships with all consent granting bodies.
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More by River 

We know the importance to our neighbours and to London of using the river as much as possible. Our
commitment to do 'More by River' aims to get as much traffic as possible off the roads, increase safety
and reduce congestion around our sites, and benefit air quality and congestion in London more
generally. During the year, we delivered three TBMs by river to our sites at Carnwath Road and Kirtling
Street. We also use the river to deliver materials to all of our foreshore sites and to remove spoil
excavated.

Innovation 

Tideway's Innovation programme has had an exciting year in terms of engagement campaigns within and
outside the Groupy, innovations invested in and fruits of previous years' innovations being realised.
Colleagues across the Alliance continued to develop novel solutions, implement innovative technologies
and share their knowledge on the online industry innovation portal, with 50 innovations published online
and 80 new ideas submitted to our Innovation team. Tideway invested over £270,000 in new ideas, which
included over £93,500 for plant telematics and over £21,000 for low carbon cement free concrete trials,
both successful pitches aimed at reducing the project's carbon footprint as well as cost. Plant telematics
is expected to realise significant cost savings, estimated at approximately £400,000 in the first year alone.

Tideway continued to engage across the industry to support collaboration and innovation. This included
Andy Mitchell chairing the cross-industry group i3P and hosting its first live funding event, i3P Spark. This
had over 30 collaborative submissions from member organisations, with £100,000 from the i3P
Collaborative Innovation Fund invested in three winning pitches from the final. These were the ideas
deemed to have the highest potential to benefit the whole industry.

Area Summary 
West Area

Tideway's West team has been working with the MWC, BMB, to successfully mobilise on all seven of the
West sites: Acton Storm Tanks, Hammersmith Pumping Station, Barn Elms, Putney Embankment
Foreshore, Dormay Street, King George's Park and Carnwath Road Riverside.

The most obvious sign of progress is at our Carnwath Road site, where we have started excavating a
shaft from which we will launch the TBM. We have built an acoustic enclosure to reduce the impact on
local residents, which includes two gantry cranes and a concrete batching plant to support the shaft
construction and tunnelling. We have also installed around 500 piles to support the site structures and
strengthen the river wall, allowing us to move materials by river.

Rachel, our first TBM to arrive on the project, was delivered to Carnwath Road Riverside site on 1
December 2017 and will tunnel to Acton Storm Tanks. Charlotte, the second TBM for the West, is currently
being refurbished and will arrive at Dormay Street later in the year. Charlotte will construct the Frogmore
Connection Tunnel from King George's Park in Wandsworth to Carnwath Road.

At Putney, the year began with completion of the temporary slipway, which opened for public use in June
2017. The main works design and construction methodology were changed at the Putney site, so they
are safer and offer significant potential savings and a shorter construction programme than the original
solution. Both the temporary and permanent works piling are planned to be completed by the end of 2018,
as well as starting construction of the shaft. ln March 2018, the Heads of the River Race and the University
Boat Race both used the site safely and successfully. Our team ensured that the University Boat Race
Slipway, which is within our site, could be used to start the races.

BMB started at Dormay Street in June 2017, with the welfare facilities and office opening in November
2017 on Causeway Island. We installed a 30m footbridge over the Bell Lane Creek, to allow safe access
for workers and increase efficiency between the two sections of the site. River wall strengthening works
are ongoing prior to shaft construction, with shaft piling planned in May 2018.

At Hammersmith, we completed all pilling works and have begun modifications to the Inlet Works, new
pumping station, shaft and culvert excavation.

At Barn Elms, construction of the new changing rooms has started and they are scheduled to be open in
Autumn 2018.

King George's Park was handed over to BMB by Thames Water in November 2017. One of the key
activities was completing the temporary footpath through the site, which was handed over and opened by
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the London Borough of Wandsworth Parks Team in December 2017. ln addition, we built a bridge to
protect the existing sewer, allowing vehicles and plant to access the entire site.

Acton Storm Tanks was the final of the seven sites to mobilise in November 2017. Site set up has begun,
together with initial enabling works.

Our team in the West has worked hard to minimise disruption for the local residents and hold regular
meetings to allow local communities to engage with the project.

Central Area

Working with the MWC, FLO, our Central Team made concerted and high-profile progress across all eight
sites in the Central Section. Our progress over the past year has built on the solid foundation of the
previous year, with some significant works packages complete and many more started.

Progress has been most significant at the main drive site at Kirtling Street, where we completed the shaft
excavation, following the completion of the diaphragm walls forming the sides of the shaft. The site now
has a shaft more than 50m deep and more than 30m in diameter, providing an imposing and dramatic
beginning to the construction of the main tunnel. Above ground, the site team has constructed an acoustic
enclosure, which is a 25m tall structure designed to protect our neighbours from noise arising from the
works inside.

At Blackfriars, the team has worked hard to overcome some significant engineering challenges primarily
caused by the project's reassessment of the tunnel's proximity to two large Victorian gas mains. We need
to ensure that the mains are not damaged by our works and we have been working very closely with
Cadent, City of London and TfL to come up with a solution. This has required us to alter our method of
construction which has impacts on schedule and cost at this site. We have also agreed with our contractor
FLO revised commercial arrangements for the site. During this year, we will explore how best to optimise
the scheme at this complex site. The team has done an excellent job and we have started construction of
a cofferdam, in line with our programme.

At Victoria Embankment, we have continued site works to drive a sheet pile cofferdam, providing a strong
wall in the river foreshore behind which we can begin construction of the drop shaft and associated
structures. Both the Blackfriars and Victoria sites have also made a significant mark on the landscape,
with striking hoardings and cabins in some of the most visible parts of the city, which are popular with
tourists and Londoners alike.

At Albert Embankment, we completed works to install protective noise insulation, providing the mitigation
required for businesses next to the site. This was followed by the construction of a sheet piled cofferdam
and works to divert several important utilities at the site.

We have set up Heathwall pumping station, close to Kirtling Street, with the installation of cabins and the
completion of enabling works to protect utilities running close to the worksite. The Chelsea Embankment
Foreshore site has provided a unique challenge, with the site team working hard to accommodate the
specific needs of the annual Chelsea Flower Show alongside our works. With piling started, the team is
engaging well with the Royal Hospital Chelsea to protect its vital income streams during the main works
construction.

At Cremarne Wharf, the Central team has worked with Thames Water to support its works around the
Counter's Creek Flood Alleviation Scheme. We are now working to set up the site at Cremarne Wharf,
carrying out a range of works in the existing sewer network and on the site to prepare for main works
construction.

At Falcon brook Pumping Station, works to set up the site have continued, with Tideway taking possession
of the site from Thames Water and setting up site hoarding and preparing for main works.

The Central Team has continued to engage with our local communities and holds sessions monthly for
all affected. At our Blackfriars site, we produce a monthly newsletter which is shared with all local
businesses and residents, helping to ensure positive working relationships. The team is involved in the
community, carrying out volunteering activities including helping with a local homeless charity and painting
and repairing a local community centre.

We successfully took delivery of the two TBMs for the Central Section by river. The TBMs, named Millicent
and Ursula, were built in Le Creusot, France, and have travelled 500 miles to London.
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The next year will be critical for the Central Section of the project, as we launch the two TBMs and expand
our foreshore sites into the river. Following the concerted efforts of the site teams, the Central Delivery
Team is in a strong position to tackle the challenges of the coming year.

East Area

2017/18 saw significant progress across the eastern section, reflecting the collaborative approach
between us and CVB, our MWC for the East.

At our main drive site, Chambers Wharf, we successfully completed the cofferdam, which increased the
size of the site by 40%. The existing jetty was then removed and the team has now completed the
diaphragm walls of the shaft using an innovative electrically powered hydrofraise. This reduces noise and
shows our commitment to mitigating the impact on our neighbours and other local stakeholders. The
works saw 35,000 tonnes of material being excavated, all of which was removed from site by barge in line
with Tideway's More by River commitment. Similarly, all reinforcement cages for the walls were delivered
to site by barge. We successfully completed fissure grouting at the site with the creation of a grout block
of 17,000m3, to reduce the permeability of the chalk at the tunnel apertures. The site is now preparing to
begin archaeology undertakings, shaft excavation and the installation of the acoustic enclosure.

At King Edward Memorial Park we opened the new permanent playground. This leaves a lasting legacy
for the community in Tower Hamlets and has been well received locally. Completion of the cofferdam is
taking longer than planned, due to unexpected ground conditions which require the team to install some
additional piles. During the installation of the cofferdam at King Edward Memorial Park a jack-up barge
became unstable and as a precaution we evacuated the neighbouring flats. This obviously caused
concern and disruption to our neighbours and we have taken their feedback in refining our incident
management plans. Diaphragm walling is now planned to start in 2019.

Excellent progress continues at Greenwich pumping station, where the team has worked closely with key
stakeholders. A significant incident in the sewers at Greenwich led Thames Water to revise its sewer entry
conditions across all of its assets and Tideway is working closely with Thames Water to embed these
arrangements. Close collaborative working with Thames Water, Network Rail and Docklands Light
Railway was instrumental in ensuring that diaphragm walling started on time and recent progress has
been ahead of our regulatory baseline.

At our Deptford Church Street site, the offices are now fully installed and the team is getting ready for the
start of diaphragm walling. At Earl Pumping Station, work continues with site preparation.

The two east TBMs, Selina and Annie, will be used to drive the tunnel from Chambers Wharf to Abbey
Mills and the Greenwich Connection Tunnel. Design and manufacture of the TBMs is currently under way
in Germany and the team is developing delivery options for them, utilising the river as much as possible.

Engaging with our local residents and stakeholders remains key for the East team, as we recognise the
impact that works can have on them. Community Liaison Working Groups are now running at all our sites.
The community information centre is open every week at Chambers Wharf and is a valuable space to
engage with local residents and stakeholders. The team also continues to work closely with our
consenting bodies and local authorities and maintains strong and open relationships with our key
stakeholders.
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Vision, Legacy and Reputation
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Our priorities for the year 

We want to create a supportive environment for delivering the tunnel, by building positive relationships
with our stakeholders and demonstrating that we are meeting our commitments to leave a positive legacy.

Legacy 

Our objective for 2017/18 was to ensure that we continue to integrate our legacy commitments into all
facets of our operations. Our Legacy Statement sets out detailed commitments for delivering lasting
project benefits, from realising jobs and skills opportunities to keeping our carbon emissions down. This
year our aim was to exceed our ambitious target of 75 per cent of live legacy commitments being on track
at the year end. By the end of the year, 79 per cent were on track, which meant we exceeded our target
when averaged across the year, with plans in place to address the lagging commitments. ln addition, an
independent assessment of the social value of our legacy commitments has shown that the anticipated
return on investment for every Tideway pound spent was approximately £3.39.

Stakeholders 

With work now under way at 20 of our 21 sites, we are more visible and our work has greater impact. This
year we continued to build relationships with the communities we work within, as well as a wide range of
other stakeholders across London.

Community Liaison Working Groups (CLWGs) now operate at each site in various formats, depending on
the specific nature of the works and the best way to engage local residents and stakeholders. Our
Helpdesk, which operates 24 hours a day, seven days a week, dealt with over 4,000 calls during the year
and updates and news about the project published via social media channels saw a significant uptake.
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Our contractors' community relations teams are based on site, reflecting our commitment to engaging
with the communities in which we are working. The last year also saw the opening of the Community
Information Centre at Carnwath Road, adding to the centres at Kirtling Street and Chambers Wharf. The
centres allow us to host visits and events, to explain our works and the construction milestones to our
stakeholders.

With greater activity on site, we have been able to use site tours as a way of engaging our stakeholders
with our work. These complement the regular Tideway boat tours that we run to explain project aims,
objectives and progress. Approximately 400 stakeholders joined one of the 50 boat tours held in the year,
with plans in place to deliver these types of engagement opportunities for a general public audience in
the year ahead. As part of the Government's flagship Skills Summit, we hosted the Education Secretary
on a site visit to Kirtling Street, together with national media, to showcase Tideway's apprenticeship
commitments.

To mark the centenary of the Representation of the People Act 1918, Tideway participated in the
Government's 'suffragette flag relay', celebrating 100 years since women over the age of 30 were given
the right to vote. A replica of the suffragist flag has travelled the country to mark the anniversary and made
a stop at our Kirtling Street site as part of the celebration, further emphasising Tideway's commitments to
diversity and gender parity.

Carbon 

Tideway is a signatory to the Infrastructure Carbon Review. We made good progress in the year,
achieving 75% of our Carbon Action Plan target. Further work is being undertaken with the remaining
25% to ensure that we achieve 100%. This resulted in progression along the maturity matrix, which is
reported in full to the Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS). ln the past year, our
MWCs have been able to obtain more accurate carbon data, which resulted in our carbon footprint being
reduced to 787,889 tonnes from 840,000 tonnes CO2e. Our MWCs continue to report carbon performance
on a quarterly basis, which will start to show the benefits of initiatives funded through our innovation
programme and maximising our use of the River Thames as an artery to import and export materials.

Community investment and charitable giving 

As part of our commitment to engaging with and supporting the communities we are working in, we actively
support a number of community-based projects and charities.

Our partnerships with London Youth Rowing (LYR) and Thames21 had significant achievements in the
year. LYR's new Active Row programme, funded by Sport England and Tideway, helped more than 2,700
young people to get active through rowing, representing a great start towards its target of reaching 8,000
youngsters over four years. Thames River Watch is the Tideway-funded programme run by the
environmental charity Thames21, which recruits and trains volunteers to collect data on litter found in the
Thames. This data was used by the GLA's Environment Committee to support its case for new policies
on plastic waste. Mayor of London Sadiq Khan subsequently announced the introduction of water
fountains to help tackle the problem.

Our local community investment programme ramped up in the year, to keep pace with the increase in our
on-site activity. Highlights included the completion of a new children's playground at King Edward
Memorial Park in Tower Hamlets; the start of work to build a new arts and community centre in Sands
End, Fulham; and the funding of a new lease for a community centre in Kensington and Chelsea, to allow
the World's End and Lots Road Big Local, a local trust, to continue to support community projects.

Tideway staff also continued to raise considerable amounts for London charities. One of the highlights
was in June, when 90 staff in 12 boats rowed nine miles down the Thames from Chelsea to Deptford.
With Tideway matched funding, they raised £37,000 for the AHOY Centre at Deptford, which supports
disadvantaged and disabled children through rowing and water sports.

At the end of 2017, Tideway staff elected three new charity partners as the focus for their fundraising:
South London Cares, which is a community network of younger professionals and older neighbours
helping one another; Single Homeless Project, which supports homeless people across London; and
Drive Forward Foundation, which supports care leavers aged 16 to 24 looking for employment. During
2017/18, Tideway staff raised a total of £43,303 for charity through organised and individual events.
Tideway itself gave a total of £40,062 in charitable donations in 2017/18, in addition to the community
investments mentioned above.
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Educational outreach 
ln 2017/18, Tideway's education programme celebrated its fifth year of operation, over which period some
3,000 hours of volunteering have taken place. ln the last financial year alone, the programme has reached
over 4,000 young people with over 400 hours volunteered by Tideway staff.

The programme continues to develop new and innovative approaches to working with schools and
colleges, to promote careers in engineering and construction whilst also delivering programmes that have
become commonplace in our school engagement calendar.

A new development this year was the launch of our augmented reality tunnelling application, which
provides teachers, students, and the wider community with an interactive way to learn about the project
and has already been downloaded hundreds of times. This marks a new direction for our online
educational resources, away from set piece lesson activities, towards shorter interventions that provide
teachers with the flexible resources they need for a modern classroom environment.

Meanwhile our activity for British Science Week, STEM on the Thames, saw over 500 young people
participate in an exciting week of activity out on the River Thames, learning about engineering, the river
and the environment around them.

We are forging deeper relationships with new partner schools in strategically important boroughs. Over
80 STEM ambassadors have participated in events with our partner schools or supported careers fairs,
work experience students or educational programmes with our partners, such as the Construction Youth
Trust.

Supply chain 

Our commitment to supporting the London and UK economy is demonstrated through our supply chain
spend. This has extended throughout the UK and included the provision of technical equipment and
services, materials and plant, labour, accommodation and catering facilities.

Ethical supply chain management is strategically significant for us, as shown by our:

• requirement for all full-time site and office-based employees on Tideway to be paid at least the
London Living Wage, with robust assurance processes in place to identify and address any non­
compliance;

• our Fair Payment Charter, which supports BEIS's ambition to ensure the construction industry
has standard 30 day payment terms. We issued the Charter to all 1,029 supply chain
companies in the UK and the 33 companies from outside the UK, and required them to comply
with it;

• responsible sourcing, which requires all of our key building materials, principally steel, cement,
aggregates and timber, to be certified to either Building Research Establishment's (BRE)
responsible sourcing standard BES 6001 Very Good or above, CARES Sustainable
Constructional Steel (SGS), Eco-Reinforcement or FSC or PEFC timber, as applicable;

• staff engage in policies, procedures and awareness events covering the complexities of human
rights and ethics in the supply chain, including our Modern Slavery Statement, Anti Bribery and
Anti-Corruption procedures; and

• compliance with the Ethical Trading Initiative Base Code.
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Company and People 
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Our priorities for the year 

Our priority for 2017/18 was to evolve the capabilities of the organisation, to support and encourage
efficient delivery through a motivated and empowered team.

Peñormance 

Overall it was a successful year, with a variety of initiatives delivering benefits across the organisation,
including the office move and implementation of our Tideway Operating Model (TOM). We introduced
innovative ways of working, both physically and virtually, and we continue to promote flexible working
arrangements to improve wellness and employee satisfaction. We also implemented new office layouts
to improve collaboration in our new London Bridge office. ln addition, we reviewed our communication
channels to make more information available and ensure all staff are kept up to date and have the right
information and tools to be effective in their day-to-day work.

These changes were reflected in our 2017 employee survey, which included Tideway, Jacobs (formerly
CH2M), agency workers and subcontractors. Employee engagement increased from 63 per cent to 64
per cent and enablement from 67 per cent to 71 per cent, indicating that we are improving and that our
people feel valued and empowered.

33



Bazalgette Equity Limited
Annual report and financial statements

Review of Corporate Structure 

During the year, we invested time in ensuring that all parts of the organisation are clear on their respective
roles and responsibilities, and developed the TOM, which clarifies and optimises the role of the Client,
Programme Manager and MWCs. This has led to some restructuring within the Group, to realign roles to
the TOM and to align the organisation to the current delivery phase of the project. Our efforts in this area
were reflected in the 2017 Engagement survey, which saw an eight percentage point improvement in the
"Work, Structure and Process" category. This is seven per cent above the UK norm.

Collaboration continues to improve across the project, as a result of implementing improved IT
collaboration systems and tools, which have been positively received, as well as the relocation from
Paddington to London Bridge, which has brought the organisation physically closer together as well as
improving our working space.

The TOM developments, along with the information system and process improvements, were recognised
in the Engagement survey with a nine percentage point increase in people agreeing that decisions are
made at the lowest level. However, the overall score of 28 per cent is below the UK norm and will be the
focus of training and continuous improvement activities for the coming year.

During Autumn 2017, we achieved compliance with the 2015 versions of ISO 9001, the Quality
Management standard, and ISO 14001 Environmental Management, and maintained compliance with
OHSAS 18001: 2007 for Health and Safety.

Diversity and lnclusivity 

Through our employee-led diversity forum, Encompass, we focus on all aspects of diversity. Some of the
key activities and achievements in 2017/18 included:

• employing the Business Disability Forum to assess our premises and develop an improvement
plan;

• completing our first Stonewall LGBT+ survey, achieving 227th out of 460 with an action plan for
improvement; and

• being named in The Times Top 50 Employers for Women 2018, with Chief Executive Officer
Andy Mitchell a Finalist in the Gender Champion Award category.

lnclusivity is important for Tideway and we continue to outperform external benchmarks when employees
are asked whether the Group values promotes diversity. Our score for this question was up one
percentage point to 90 per cent favourable, which is above the UK average.

We recognise the importance of diversity and its positive impact on Company performance. Gender
diversity is a key performance indicator for us and we finished the financial year with 36 per cent female
staff. This is below our end of year target of 40 per cent. However, we continue to seek ways to achieve
our aim of gender parity by the end of construction.

Headcount 
(as at 31 March 2018)" 

Female 
31 

March 
2018

Male 
31 

March 
2018

Total 
31 

March
2018

Female 
31 

March 
2017

Male 
31

March 
2017

Total
31 

March 
2017

Board.♦ 2 11 13 3 9 12 

Senior Management J' 33 53 18 34 52 

Other Employees 153 271 424 159 261 420

Total• l 175 315 490 180 304 484 j~
*Includes Tideway employees and our project management contractors (Jacobs)
** Includes shareholder Directors

Talent 

We reviewed our talent management and succession planning during the year, as a regular health check
of the business and to ensure we have appropriate bench strength for key roles, as part of Tideway's
structured performance review process. Tideway's organisational size and shape will continue to evolve
over the life of the project and our approach ensures that individuals are supported in their career within
the project, as well as their potential external roles in the future.
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During the year, we made progress on our plans to develop the next generation of talent and help local
and disadvantaged people into employment. This included targets for Tideway and our contractors to
employ apprentices, local people and ex-offenders as follows:

One in 50 staff should be a new apprentice. As at the year end, 52 apprentices were employed,
of which 38 are new apprentices on the project. This equated to 1 in 53 people being a new
apprentice and the average for the year is 1 in 47.
One in 100 should be an ex-offender. Currently 19 ex-offenders have been recruited through
our work with ex-offender organisations and 1 in 107 are ex-offenders, with a average for the
year of 1 in 104.
25 per cent of our workforce should be resident across the 14 London Boroughs impacted by
our works. Our current performance is at 21 %.

Further work is being undertaken to ensure we continue to improve on these metrics and attain the desired
result.

We have developed an effective apprenticeship programme, which in the last 12 months has extended
beyond engineering to include corporate functions such as business administration and project
management. We are working with several organisations to support individuals who are ex-offenders or
currently not in work, by providing training, work experience placements or permanent roles. Our HR staff
have been trained by Nacra, the ex-offender charity, on fair recruitment processes and we are launching
an upskilling programme across the Alliance and part-funded by the Construction Industry Training Board
(CITB), to enable progression of staff into better paid, higher quality roles.

Tideway is committed to ensuring that all our employees are paid at or above the London Living Wage
and have set it as a minimum for contractor staff working full time on site. Currently, 99.6% of all staff who
have employment on the project, excluding apprentices, are paid at or above the London Living Wage,
with efforts in place to resolve cases of non-compliance. We are working hard to identify and resolve
outstanding cases.

Ethics and Human Rights 

Ethical behaviour and human rights are core to Tideway's ethos and operations. We participate in APRES
(Action Programme for Responsible and Ethical Sourcing) and adhere to the International Labour
Organisation's (ILO) Ethical Trading Initiative Code, giving a clear framework for our employees,
contractors and stakeholders.

We ensure that:
• staff engage in policies, procedures and awareness events covering the complexities of human

rights and ethics in the supply chain, including our Modern Slavery Statement, Anti Bribery and
Anti-Corruption procedures;

• staff undertake mandatory training throughout the year;
• our contractors have similar policies and training programmes in place;
• our MWCs follow the Ethical Trading Initiative Base Code;
• all new suppliers meet Tideway standards in ethics and human rights, via the Tideway new

supplier process; and
• staff have a confidential 24-hour whistleblowing helpline, allowing them to ask questions, raise

concerns or report violations of our ethical and human rights stance.

Tideway was an early signatory to the Responsible and Ethical Sourcing Handbook, providing funding
and participating in the initial working groups.
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Financing 
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*The Group has been assigned a corporate family credit rating of Baa1 by Moody's and the Group's Revolving Credit Facility
(RCF) has been rated BBB+ by Fitch.

Treasury policy 

Tideway's treasury policy incorporates the corporate objective of financing the Group while minimising
risk. Our target is to maintain a robust investment grade credit rating at all times.

Financing activity 

As at 31 March 2018, we had received £1,274.0m from shareholders, which was the full commitment at
Licence Award, in line with our equity-first approach to financing. This was in the form of £509. 7m of equity
and £764.5m of shareholder loans. Part of the shareholder loans has since been repaid and the balance
at 31 March 2018 was £714.4m. The revolving credit facility remained undrawn during the period and the
commitment at the year end stood at £750m, after the cancellation of £250m in March 2018.

We continued to make timely progress with implementing our financing plan and the £1.05bn of long-term
financing closed during the year helped secure the financing for our investment programme and further
locked in our financing costs. These transactions also confirmed the downward trajectory of Tideway's
credit margin, in line with the growing confidence in and maturity of the execution of our financing and
delivery plans.

Our multi-format debt platform supports the raising of long-term debt via structural enhancements that
include a bankruptcy-remote structure and a package of covenants and restrictions protecting cash flows.
The debt platform includes a multi-currency bond programme, which is listed on the regulated market of
the London Stock Exchange. Tideway's prospectus for the listing was updated in June 2017.
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ln April 2017, we entered £100m of long-term inflation linked financing with an institutional investor. This
was our first index-linked issuance in loan format with an investor, demonstrating the benefits of our
flexible platform which enables us to issue seamlessly in different markets and with different instruments.

ln June 2017, we priced a £300 million US private placement (USPP) with a group of US investors,
diversifying our investor base and adding resilience to the execution of the financing plan. This transaction
funded in September, has a nominal interest rate and achieved a competitive rate, paving the way for the
nominal public green bond issued later in the year.

During the year, we issued four bonds under the multi-currency bond platform, the first of which was in
July 2017, when we priced a £125m deferred draw bond. Our differed draw down issuance enables us to
de-risk our financing plan and secure the best possible borrowing terms by locking in committed debt
funding at current market rates and managing negative carry costs associated with pre-funding.

This was followed by three bonds issued on a cash basis. Two of these, which we issued in August and
November, were indexed to the consumer price indexed (CPI), a first for Tideway. We also issued our
debut public bond in November as a green bond (see below).

Green Bonds 

Green bonds are debt instruments whose proceeds fund projects with environmental benefits, such as
the Thames Tideway Tunnel. Tideway has become the largest corporate issuer of Green Bonds in sterling
with £775 million of issuance, £325m of which was post year-end.

Over two consecutive days in November 2017 Tideway issued a £250 million debut green public bond,
with a nominal interest rate, followed by a £200 million green CPI-linked private placement, both issued
under Tideway's multicurrency bond programme. This last transaction won an mtn-i Deal of the Year
award, as it was both an index-linked bond with an inflation floor and ceiling and a green bond.

As part of the execution of our green bond strategy, we published our Green Bond Framework aligned
with the four core components of the International Capital Markets Association Green Bond Principles.
This is a set of voluntary process guidelines that recommend transparency, disclosure and reporting. The
framework included a description of Tideway and the sustainable legacy programme, as well as
undertakings about the use of proceeds and reporting.

These issuances have several innovative features:

The public bond was the first debut public bond issued as a green bond in the UK. We went
to market on the day of the Autumn Budget 2017 and the day before the US Thanksgiving
holiday, and were the only corporate issuer in Europe on the day. The transaction was well
received by investors and was more than three times oversubscribed.
The private placement was the first UK private placement issued as a green bond and the
first combination of index-linked issuance with green bond, making us also the largest CPI­
linked issuer in the UK; and
ln the Green Bond Framework, we aligned our sustainability commitments to the UN
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs). Tideway will make a direct contribution to seven
of the SDGs.

We retained S&P Global Ratings to provide a Green Evaluation for the bond programme and for bond
series issued under the programme. A green evaluation produces a relative green impact score for debt
instruments financing environmental beneficial projects and is a second opinion aligned with the Green
Bond Principles. This was S&P's first public green evaluation in the UK and it achieved the highest S&P
mitigation score to date and the joint-highest overall score of E1 - 95/1 OO. 

The Green Bond Framework and the Green Evaluation have been published on our website.

Tideway's green bonds were covered by the specialist press and were mentioned in the government's "A
Green Future: Our 25 Year Plan to Improve the Environment" published in January.

Hedging 

We hedged £70m of the USPP £300m transaction by entering into two hedging transactions to lock-in the
cost until maturity on an RPI basis.

We will continue to manage interest rates on our debt programme, balancing the objective of securing
long-term rates with the likely changes arising after the end of the current regulatory period in 2030.
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Distributions 

At Licence Award our shareholders committed a total amount of £1,274m in the form of equity and
shareholder loans. This has been fully injected in Tideway and future investment will be debt financed.
As a result, our gearing increases to our target capital structure as Tideway delivers its investment
programme, risks are retired, and debt is used to fund the investment.

We capitalise our construction costs and do not expect to record distributable profits until after System
Acceptance, which means we do not expect to pay dividends during the construction period. Distributions
to shareholders prior to System Acceptance are through the payment of interest and repayment of the
principal of our shareholders loans. This mechanism was put in place during the Infrastructure Provider
(IP) equity procurement process run by Thames Water and overseen by Ofwat and the UK Government
and was key to achieving the low cost of capital bid by our shareholders. Ultimately Thames Water's
wastewater customers benefit from the low cost of capital achieved through the procurement through a
lower charge in their bills. ln 2017/18 we made distributions totalling £75.Sm through payment of interest
and repayment of principal on our shareholder loans.

When approving the amount of distributions at each distribution date, the Board sets the total amount and
a profile of distributions that is consistent with our target capital structure at Handover. The Board also
considers the operational and financial performance of the Group and the cumulative yield to ensure it is
consistent with the level set during the equity procurement process.

Liquidity 

At 31 March 2018, we had total liquidity of £3bn, comprising £904m of cash, the £750m undrawn RCF,
the £700m EIB loan, £575m of bonds and a £1 00m loan. This, combined with expected revenue collection,
provides liquidity significantly in excess of our 18-month target, including all debt requirements to System
Acceptance.

Ratings 

Moody's and Fitch assigned investment grade credit ratings of Baa1 and BBB+ respectively to our bond
issuances, consistent with the initial ratings received at Licence Award and affirmed during the year.
Moody's also assigned a rating of Baa1 to the USPP transaction.

Investment Management 

The disbursement profile of shareholders' funds and the £825m of new debt issued and drawn during the
year led to us benefiting from substantial cash balances during the year, averaging £631 m per daily close.
We managed these cash balances by adhering to the set limits and criteria of our approved investment
management strategy, prioritising the preservation of principal, ensuring adequate liquidity and striving to
optimise the yield. During the year, we held cash in three types of instrument: bank accounts with our
main bankers, Lloyds Bank; money market deposits with a fixed maturity date, held with our relationship
banks; and money market funds with immediate cash availability, held with selected institutions.

ln 2017/18, we generated a total return of around £2.3m on our cash balances, at an average yield of
0.37% per annum for the year. The return averaged 3 basis points below the base rate, driven by the
Bank of England interest rate increase to 0.5% per annum in November 2017 and the large influx of cash
after our successful debt issuance.

Post year end issuance 

ln April 2018, we issued another £150m long-term inflation linked green bond and in May we had three
bond issuances totalling £175m, also linked to inflation and in green bond format. These issuances further
lock-in our financing costs and continue the innovative strategy of pricing bonds with long deferral periods
to match our investment profile. These new bonds take Tideway's green bond issuance to £775m.

We continue to review our capital raising strategy and the markets in which we do so, as well as the
potential for additional pre-funding to take advantage of market conditions and further de-risk the financing
plan.

Reporting 

We regularly update our main stakeholders on our progress with our delivery and financing plans to,
through the quarterly meetings of the Liaison Committee attended by Thames Water, Defra, Ofwat and
the Environment Agency. We also report regularly to our lender investors, in compliance with the terms
of our financing documents and the GSP.
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Financial performance review 
Accounting basis 

Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). Under IFRS, we consider that lease accounting is the most appropriate accounting
basis for Tideway post System Acceptance. Accordingly, during the construction phase of the project,
expenditure which is directly attributable to bringing the TTT into its intended use will be capitalised as an
asset under construction within the Statement of Financial Position. Similarly, during the construction
phase, we recognise the regulated revenue received from Thames Water as 'deferred income' within the
Statement of Financial Position.

Non-GAAP measures 

ln our financial reporting, we use certain measures that are not required under IFRS, the Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) under which we report. We believe these measures are valuable
to the users of the accounts in helping them understand our underlying business performance. Our
principle non-GAAP measure is Allowable and Excluded Project Spend.

Under our Licence, our costs are classified as either 'Allowable Project Spend' or 'Excluded Project
Spend'.

Allowable Project Spend (on a cash basis) is added to our RCV. Excluded Project Spend (on a cash
basis), such as financing costs, is not added to the RCV.

Allowable costs are costs stated on an accruals basis, which form part of the Allowable Project Spend
(and are added to our RCV) when the underlying assets or liabilities are cash settled. Excluded costs are
costs stated on an accruals basis which will be Excluded Project Spend (and not added to our RCV) when
the underlying assets or liabilities are cash settled.

For the purposes of calculating net cash/(debt), Borrowings include all intra-group and third- party
borrowings with the exclusion of shareholder loan notes.

Income statement 

During the year ended 31 March 2018, Tideway reported a profit of £9.5m (2016/17: £34.2m loss), with
no dividends paid or proposed (2016/17: £nil). We did not recognise any taxable profits in the period
(2016/17: £nil) and therefore have no corporation tax charges (2016/17: £nil).

We do not consider that the reported profit in the year reflects our business performance, as it results
from the movement in the fair value in the Group's financial instruments. These are long-term swaps
which we entered into with commercial banks to economically hedge the interest costs of the Group's
debt. The swaps fix finance costs for the Group's regulatory period and ensure that we benefit from low­
cost financing.

The movement in fair value of these financial instruments is recognised in the Income Statement because,
under IAS 23, these do not represent current borrowing costs incurred for financing the project and so,
unlike our other expenditure, cannot be capitalised. Note 11 to the financial statements provides more
details on the financial instruments.

We have made a 'disregard election' to HMRC effective from 1 April 2016, which means that any gains
or losses arising from the movement in the fair value will be disregarded for current tax purposes.

Statement of financial position 

The table below analyses capitalised costs in the Statement of Financial Position (on an accruals basis)
and the associated cash outflows.
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2017/18

Analysis of Costs 
and Cash Outflows (£m) Costs 

Timing Cash 
Differences Outflows Costs 

2016/17

Timing Cash 
Differences Outflows 

Aflowable 542.7 (24.5) 518.2 348.0 (7.5) 340.5

Excluded tlt>.3 45.4 111.7 36.7 53.1 89.8 

I Total 609.0 20.9 629.9 384.7 -45.6 430.3 I
I L

Brought Forward 545..9 161.2

I Capitalised Costs• 1,154.9 546.9

* Capitalised Costs is the GAAP measure and aligns to note 6 of the financial statements 

For the year ended 31 March 2018, our Allowable Project Spend is lower than the Allowable costs, as our
Allowable costs include the timing of accruals and unwinding of prepayments of items, including insurance
contracts and the GSP. The Excluded cash outflows are significantly higher than the Excluded costs. This
is mainly due to the £23.8m (2017: £24.1 m) repayment of shareholder loans and £9.8m (2017: £12.1 m)
timing of VAT payments, which are not included within Excluded costs.

At 31 March 2018, costs of £1, 154.9m were capitalised within the asset under construction in the
Statement of Financial Position. This represents £609.0m costs during the year and £545.9m for the prior
periods to 31 March 2017.

The table below analyses Allowable costs:

Allowable Costs (£m) 2017/18 2016117

Direct Costs I 443..2 262.6 

Resource Costs 68.4 eo.s 
Other Indirect Costs 3. 25. 

lndìrect Costs 99.5 85...4 

Total 542..7 348.0

Direct costs 

Direct costs are primarily the MWC (Main Work Contractors) costs. They also include the System
Integrator Contract and in 2016/17 the contract with Volkerstevin to provide services and works for the
removal and replacement of piers and the relocation of marine vessels.

The direct costs incurred in the year have increased significantly compared with 2016/17, reflecting the
increase level of construction as we further mobilise on our sites in preparation for tunnelling.

Indirect costs 

The largest indirect cost is Resource Costs of £68.4m. This represents the cost to employ the c479
average FTEs (2016/17 c450 average FTEs) either employed or contracted by the Group. The Other
Indirect Costs include information systems, insurance, GSP, office and other running costs.

Indirect costs have increased compared with 2016/17, reflecting the growth in FTEs to support the
increased level of construction.

Excluded costs 

The Excluded costs (on an accruals basis) for the year ended 31 March 2018 were £66.3m. These
comprise £61.Sm of interest payable (including shareholder loans), £7.1 m of costs which mainly relate to
financing, partly offset by £2.3m interest receivable.
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Net cash and financing 

At 31 March 2018, the Group's cash and cash equivalents were £846.4m. Borrowings (excluding
shareholder loans) were £825.9m. These were in the form of £301.Sm of fixed-rate loans, £247.2m of
fixed-rate bonds and £277.2m of index-linked bonds.

The net cash balance (cash and cash equivalents less borrowings excluding shareholder loans) at 31
March 2018 was £20.Sm, which was £295.4m lower than the £315.9m net cash at 31 March 2017.

ln addition, the Group has secured deferred loans of £800.0m and deferred bond issuances of £575.0m
which will be reflected in the financial statements when they are drawn down in the future. The Revolving
Credit facility remained undrawn during the period and the commitment at the year end stood at £750.0m.

Revenue 

Within the financial statements, all revenue is recorded as deferred income in the Statement of Financial
Position, in line with our revenue recognition accounting policy. Revenue of £32.1 m is reported for the
year, which is based on the latest estimate.

During the year, we received cash inflows of £26.8m from revenue (£32.1 m including VAT), which
includes some revenue from 2016/17.

Tax strategy 

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that we comply with tax laws in the UK, which is the only
territory we undertake our business activities in. Our business activities mean that we fall under
corporation, employment and other taxes. ln addition, we collect and pay employee taxes, as well as
indirect taxes such as VAT. The taxes we collect and pay make an economic contribution to the UK.
Tideway is part of the Bazalgette Equity Limited Group, of which all members are domiciled in the UK.
We consider the interaction with Group members when we implement our tax policy.

During the construction phase, all attributable expenditure required to construct the TTT is considered to
be capital in nature and is capitalised. Revenue we receive from Thames Water is deferred onto the
Statement of Financial Position. The calculation of taxable profit follows the accounting treatment in the
Income Statement and as a result, we do not expect to recognise taxable profits during the construction
phase. This is in line with expectations at the time Tideway was procured and customers benefit in full
from lower bills.

The loan relationships we have entered into will generate carried forward deductions into future taxation
periods. Our ability to use these deductions will depend on the tax law at that time and the availability of
taxable profits to offset the deductions against.

During the year we carried out a review of the new tax legislation changes including the new Corporate
Interest Restriction rules. This involved establishing the likely interest deductibility position for Tideway
and the options available to utilise these. As a result of the review, presently we have decided not to elect
for the Public Benefit Infrastructure Exemption.

We are committed to complying with tax laws in a responsible manner and to having open and constructive
relationships with the tax authorities.

This strategy is based on the following principles:

• Tax planning: We will engage in tax planning that supports our business and reflects
commercial and economic activity. We will not engage in artificial tax arrangements and will
adhere to relevant tax laws and seek to minimise the risk of uncertainty or dispute;

• Relationship with HM Revenue & Customs (HMRC): We will seek to build and maintain a
constructive relationship with HMRC. We will work collaboratively wherever possible with HMRC
to resolve disputes and to achieve agreement and certainty. We will engage with the
government on the development of tax laws where we can and the tax law change is relevant to
Tideway's business activities;

• Transparency: We support measures that build greater transparency, increase understanding
of tax systems and build public trust;

• Tax risk management: We identify, assess and manage tax risks and account for them
appropriately. Risk management measures are implemented including controls over compliance
processes and monitoring of effectiveness; and

• Governance: The Chief Financial Officer (CFO) is responsible for and implements our
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approach to tax, which is reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. The CFO is also
responsible for ensuring that appropriate policies and procedures are in place and maintained
and that the financial control team, with specialist external support as necessary, has the
appropriate skills and experience to implement the approach effectively.

The Strategic report was approved by the Board on the 21 June 2018 and was signed on its behalf by:

J/f!A__~ 
Valmai Barclay 
Company Secretary
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Directors' report 
The directors present their report and the audited Group and Company financial statements of Bazalgette
Equity Limited (the Company) for the year ended 31 March 2018.

The registered company number is 09553394.

Financial results and dividends 

The Group recorded a profit of £9.5m for the year (2017: £34.2m loss). The profit reflects the fair value
movement of the Group's derivative financial instruments. The detailed financial results of the Group are
set out in the financial performance review within the Strategic report on pages 39-41.

The Company did not pay any dividends in the year (2017: £nil).

During the year, £51.6m (2017: £29.3m) of shareholder loan interest was accrued on the shareholder
loan notes. At 31 March 2018, £51.6m (2017: £29.3m) of the accrued shareholder loan interest had been
paid and £nil (2017: £nil) rolled up within the shareholder loans. The shareholder loan notes bear an
interest rate of 8 per cent, with maturity on 30 September 2064. Further details of the shareholder loan
notes are set out in note 11 of the financial statements.

Financial risk management 

Full disclosure on the Group's financial risk management is set out in note 12 of the financial statements.

Directors 

The directors who held office during the year, and thereafter, for the Company were as follows:

Andrew Cox

Jaroslava Korpancova

Scott McGregor

Joseph Philipsz

Alistair Ray

Angela Roshier

Michael Ryan

Gavin Tait

Amanda Woods

(resigned 23 March 2018)

(appointed 23 March 2018)

(appointed 19 February 2018)

(resigned 19 February 2018)

Directors' Indemnities 

The Group has had in place directors and Officers Liability insurance for the period.

Employees 

The average number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the year was 179
(2017: 151 ), who were all employed by Bazalgette Tunnel Limited. At the Statement of Financial Position
date, the Company did not employ any staff directly.

Details relating to the Group's employment policies and values are set out on pages 33-35 of the Strategic
report.

Greenhouse gas emissions 
The Group's approach to identifying and reducing its greenhouse gas emissions is set out in the Strategic
Report on page 31.
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Directors' report (continued) 

Charitable and political donations 
The Group made charitable donations totalling £40,062 during the year (2017: £51,356). Details of the
Group's charitable partnerships are set out on page 31 of the Strategic report.

The Group did not make any political donations or incur any political expenditure during the year (2017:
£nil).

Payment to suppliers 

Settlement terms are agreed with suppliers as part of the contract terms and the Company's policy is to
pay in accordance with these terms. Other creditors are paid in accordance with invoice terms.

The Group, along with its Main Work Contractors, has signed up to the Construction Supply Chain
Payment Charter. The Charter applies to all construction contracts with the aim of helping to create a
more collaborative culture and ensure a strong, resilient and sustainable supply chain.

The creditor days for the year ending 31 March 2018 are approximately 21 days (2017: 17 days).

Events occurring after the reporting period 
Details of any events occurring after the reporting date are included in note 18 of the financial statements.

Future Outlook 

The future outlook of the Group is discussed in the Strategic Report. The Company is expected to continue
to act as the ultimate holding company within the Group for the foreseeable future.

Disclosure of information to auditor 

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors' report confirm that, so far as they
are each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is unaware and
each director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make themselves
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that
information.

Other information 

An indication of likely future developments in the business and particulars of significant events which have
occurred since the end of the financial year have been included in the Strategic report.

Auditor 

Pursuant to Section 487 of the Companies Act 2006, the auditor will be deemed to be reappointed and
KPMG LLP will therefore continue in office.
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Statement of directors' responsibilities in respect of the Strategic report, the 
Directors' report and the financial statements 
The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and parent Company
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company financial statements for each
financial year. Under that law they have elected to prepare the Group and parent Company financial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European
Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU) and applicable law.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that
they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of their profit or
loss for that period. ln preparing each of the Group and parent Company financial statements, the
directors are required to:

select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, relevant and reliable;

state whether they have been prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

assess the Group and parent Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern; and

use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the
parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the parent Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the parent Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also responsible for preparing a Strategic Report
and a Directors' Report that complies with that law and those regulations.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the company's website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination
of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

We consider the annual report and accounts, taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and
provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the group's position and performance,
business model and strategy.

Valmai Barclay 
Company Secretary

Cottons Centre
Cottons Lane
London
SE1 2 QG

21 June 2018
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Independent 
auditor's report 
to the members of Bazalgette Equity Limited 
only 

l. Our opinion on the financial statements is unmodified 

We have audited the financial statements of Bazalgette Equity limited for the year ended 31 March 2018 which comprise the Group
Income Statement, Group Statement of Comprehensive Income, Group and Company Statement of Changes in Equity, Group and
Company Balance Sheet, Group and Company Statement of cash Flows, and the related Notes including the accounting policies in Note
l. 
ln our opinion:

the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group's and the parent company's affairs as at 31 March 2018
and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union (IFRSs as adopted by the EU);
the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and as
applied ln accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; and

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 

2. Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Group in
accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a
sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

Overview

Materiality: group
financial statements as a
whole

£5.2m (2017: £3.0m)

0.98% (2017: O. 78%) of gross expenditure

Coverage 100"/o (2017:100"/o)of company profit before tax

Risks of material misstatement vs 2017

Recurring risks Completeness and existence of
capitalised costs and creditors

◄►

Recoverability of parent
company's investment in
subsidiary

◄►
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements
and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by us, including those
which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the 
engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. ln arriving at our opinion above, the key audit matters, in
decreasing order of audit significance, were as follows:

The risk Our response 

Fixed assets & capital creditors

Capitalised costs: 
(£609.0 million; 2017: £384.6 million)

Capital creditors 

Refer to 56 (accounting policy) and page 
62 (financial disclosures). 

2017/2018costs

The Company incurs significant annual
expenditure in relation to the construction of the
wastewater infrastructure asset. We do not
consider the completeness and existence of
capitalized costs and capital creditors to be at a
high risk of significant misstatement. However,
due to their materiality in the context of the
financial statements as a whole, they are
considered to be the area which has the greatest
effects on our overall audit strategy and
allocation of resources in planning and
completing our audit.

Our procedures included:

- Control design: Testing controls over the payment/ cost
verification process which includes observing that for a sample
of payments they were agreed to certificates, the amounts
matched the invoices received and payments by the company
were authorised.

- Test of detail: Inspecting a sample of invoices received
before and subsequent to the year end to consider the timing of
work performed and therefore whether costs and creditors
have been recorded in the correct year.

- Test of detail: Fora sample of amounts capitalised in the
year, inspecting the related invoices to assess that the amount
had been incurred.

- Test of detail: Comparing a sample of the claims from the
independent project manager's assessment to the claims
recorded by the company to assess completeness.

Recoverability of parent company's
investment in subsidiaries

(£509.7 million; 2017: £370.4 million)

Refer to page 62 (financial disclosures}. 

low risk, high value

The carrying amount of the parent company's
investments in subsidiaries represents 1000.4
(2017: 100%) of the company's total assets. Their
recoverability is not at a high risk of significant
misstatement or subject to significant judgement.
However, due to their materiality in the context
of the parent company financial statements, this
is considered to be the area that had the greatest
effect on our overall parent company audit.

Our procedures included:

Test of detail: Tests of detail: Comparing the carrying amount
of 100% of investments representing 100% (2016: 100%) of the
total investment balance with the relevant subsidiary's draft
balance sheet to identify whether their net assets, being an
approximation of their minimum recoverable amount, were in
excess of their carrying amount and assessing whether those
subsidiaries have historically been profit-making or if they have
potential to recover any obligations.

Assessing subsidiary audits: Assessing the work performed by
the subsidiary audit team and considering the results of that
work, on the subsidiary's profits and net assets.

Our sector experience: Comparing the carrying amount of the
investment with the expected value of BTL based on future cash
flow projections for the next 8 years.
Our findings: No issues identified.
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3. Our application of materiality and an overv iew 
of the scope of our audit 

Materiality for the Group financial statements as a
whole was set at £5.2m (2017: £3.0m),
determined with reference to a benchmark of
gross expenditure in the year, of which it
represents 0.98% (2017: 0.78%).

Bazalgette Tunnel Limited is part of a group
headed by Bazalgette Equity Limited. Materiality
of £5.2m (2017: £3.0m), as communicated by the
subsidiary audit team, has been applied to the
audit of the Company. This is lower than the
materialitywe would otherwise have determined
by reference to total assets and represents 100%
of the Group's profit before tax (2017: 100%).

We agreed to report to the Audit Committee any
corrected or uncorrected identified
misstatements exceeding £260,000, in addition to
other identified misstatements that warranted
reporting on qualitative grounds.

The audit team performed the audit of the Group
as if it was a single aggregated set of financial
information.

4 We have nothing to report on going concern

Total gross expenditure
£525.6m (2017: £384.7m)

■ Gross expenditure 
■ Group materiality 

We are required to report to you if we have anything material to add or draw attention to in relation to the directors' statement
in note 1 to the financial statements on the use of the going concern basis of accounting with no material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt over the Group and Company's use of that basis for a period of at least twelve months from the date of
approval of the financial statements. We have nothing to report in these respects.

5 We have nothing to report on the other information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the financial statements.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit
opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements audit
work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge.
Based solely on that work we have not identified material misstatements in the other information.
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Strategic report and directors' report 

Materiality 
£5.2m (2017: £3.0m)

£S.2m
Whole financial 
statements materiality 
¡2011: £3.0ml 

£3.9m (2017:£2.2m) 
Performance Materiality

£0.26m
Misstatements reported to the audit 
committee (2017: £0.lSm)

Based solely on our work on the other information:
- we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report and the directors' report;
- in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements; and
- in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.
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Disclosures of principal risks and longer-term viability 

Based on the knowledge we acquired during our financial statements audit, we have nothing material to add or draw attention to in
relation to:

the directors' confirmation within the long-term viability statement page x that they have carried out a robust assessment of the
principal risks facing the Group, including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency and liquidity;

the Principal Risks disclosures describing these risks and explaining how they are being managed and mitigated; and

the directors' explanation in the long-term viability statement of how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what
period they have done so and why they considered that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the period of
their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions.

Corporate governance disclosures 

We are required to report to you if:

we have identified material inconsistencies between the knowledge we acquired during our financial statements audit and the
directors' statement that they consider that the annual report and financial statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the company's position and performance, business
model and strategy; or

the section of the annual report describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters communicated
by us to the Audit Committee.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

6 We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or
the Parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

7 Respective responsibilities 

Directors' responsibilities 

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 45, the Directors are responsible for: the preparation of the financial
statements including being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and
Parent company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or Parent company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor's report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website atwww.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
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8 The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are required to
state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members, as a body, for our audit work, for this

'"""' ''°""'u.m,a
15 Canada Square
London
E14 SGL
21 June 2018
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Group Income Statement 
For the year ended 31 March 2018 

Note 2018 2017 
£m £m 

Net operating costs 2, 3 

Operating result 

Net finance income/(costs) 4 9.5 (34.2)

Profit/(loss) before tax 9.5 (34.2) 

Taxation 5

Profit/(loss) for the year 9.5 (34.2) 

Group Statement of Other Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 March 2018 

2018 
£m 

2017 
£m 

ProfiU{Loss) for the year 9.5 (34.2)

Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to 
owners of the parent 

9.5 (34.2) 

Notes 1 to 18 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group and Company Statement of Financial Position 
As at 31 March 2018 

Group Group Company Company 
Note 2018 2017 2018 2017 

£m £m £m £m 
Non-current assets 

Property, plant and equipment 6 1,154.9 545.9
Trade and other receivables 8 54.5 54.8
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 7 509.7 370.4

1,209.4 600.7 509.7 370.4

Current assets 
Trade and other receivables 8 32.8 29.8
Cash and cash equivalents 9 846.4 315.9
Short-term cash deposits 9 57.5

936.7 345.7

Total assets 2,146.1 946.4 509.7 370.4 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 10 (39.1) (20.0)

(39.1) (20.0)

Non-current liabilities 
Other Payables 10 (3.5)
Advance payment liability 10 (53.5) (26.7)
Borrowings 11 (1,540.3) (529.3)
Derivative financial instruments 12 (24.7) (34.2)

(1,622.0) (590.2)

Total liabilities (1,661.1) (610.2) 

Net assets 485.0 336.2 509.7 370.4 

Equity 
Share capital 13 507.4 368.1 507.4 368.1
Share premium 13 2.3 2.3 2.3 2.3
Retained earnings 13 (24.7) (34.2)

Total equity 485.0 336.2 509.7 370.4 

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 21 June 2018 and were signed

~y:
~

Gavin Tait 
Director
Company registered number: 09553394

Notes 1 to 18 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group and Company Statement of Changes in Equity 

Group Company 

Share Share Retained Total Share Share Retained Total 
capital Premium earnings equity capital Premium earnings equity 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Balance at 1 April 2016 136.0 2.3 138.3 136.0 2.3 138.3

Loss for the year (34.2) (34.2)
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive (34.2) (34.2) 
income for the year 

--- -- 
Transactions with owners

recorded directly in equity:
Issue of ordinary shares 232.1 232.1 232.1 232.1

Total contributions by and 232.1 232.1 232.1 232.1 
distributions to owners 

Balance at 31 March 2017 368.1 2.3 (34.2) 336.2 368.1 2.3 370.4 

Balance at 1 April 2017 368.1 2.3 (34.2) 336.2 368.1 2.3 370.4

Profit for the year 9.5 9.5
Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive 9.5 9.5 
income for the year 

--- -- -- -- 
Transactions with owners

recorded directly in equity:
Issue of ordinary shares 139.3 139.3 139.3 139.3

Total contributions by and 139.3 139.3 139.3 139.3 
distributions to owners 

Balance at 31 March 2018 507.4 2.3 (24.7) 485.0 507.4 2.3 509.7 

Notes 1 to 18 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group and Company Cash Flow Statements 
For the year ended 31 March 2018 

Note 

Cash flows from operating activities before 
working capital movements 

Increase in trade and other receivables 8 
lncrease/{decrease) in trade and other payables 10 
Increase in advance payment liability 10 

Cash flows from/(used in) operations 

Net cash flow from operating activities 

Cash flows used in investing activities 
Construction of infrastructure asset
Short-term cash deposits
Investment in subsidiary undertaking

Net cash flows used in investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from the issue of share capital
Proceeds from shareholder loans
Proceeds from loan from subsidiary undertaking
Repayment of shareholders loan principal

Net cash flows from financing activities 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents during the year 

Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
year 

6 
9 

13 

Group 
2018 
£m 

(2.7)
22.6
26.8

46.7 

46.7 

(605.2)
(57.5)

(662.7) 

Group Company Company 
2017 2018 2017 
£m £m £m 

(3.4)
(9.4)
26.7

13.9 

(367.2) 

(139.3)

(139.3) 

(13.7)

(13. 7) 

13.9 (13. 7) 

(384.7)
17.5

(232.1)

(232.1) 

139.3
208.9
822.1
(23.8)

232.1
316.7

(24.1)

139.3 232.1

1,146.5 524.7 139.3 232.1 

530.5 171.4 (13. 7) 

9 315.9 144.5 13.7 

9 846.4 315.9 

Notes 1 to 18 form an integral part of these financial statements.

54



Bazalgette Equity Limited
Annual report and financial statements 2018

Notes to the financial statements 

1 Accounting policies 
Basis of preparation 

Bazalgette Equity Limited ("the Company") is domiciled in the UK. The registered address is Cottons
Centre, Cottons Lane, London, SE1 2QG.

As at the 31 March 2018, the Bazalgette Equity Group comprised the Company, Bazalgette Venture
Limited ("BVL"}, Bazalgette Holdings Limited ("BHL"), Bazalgette Tunnel Limited ("BTL"}, Bazalgette
Finance pic ("FinCo") and Thames Tideway Tunnel Limited ("TTT Ltd"). TTT Ltd was voluntarily dissolved
in April 2018 and its last date of trading was 31 March 2017. The Group financial statements consolidate
those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as "the Group").

The Company financial statements present information about the Company as a separate entity and not
about its Group.

The Group and the Company financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU ("adopted IFRS"). The
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost accounting convention except
where adopted IFRS requires an alternative treatment. Where items are sufficiently significant by virtue
of their size or nature, they are disclosed separately in the financial statements in order to aid the reader's
understanding of the Group and the Company's financial position.

ln the process of applying the Group's accounting policies, the directors are required to make certain
judgements, estimates and assumptions that it believes are reasonable based on the information
available. The directors consider the significant judgements, estimates and assumptions made in the
application of these accounting policies that have significant effect on the financial statements with a risk
of material adjustment to the carrying amounts in the next year are as follows:

Impairment - ln assessing the recoverable value of the Thames Tideway Tunnel asset, the directors are
required to make judgements around the assumptions and estimates used to calculate the recoverable
amount of the asset which is deemed to be the Group's Regulatory Capital Value ("RCV"). This is because
the asset carrying value includes all attributable costs that are capitalised whereas the RCV, which is the
driver of economic return for the Group, does not include financing costs such as capitalised borrowing
costs.

The significant judgements that the directors are required to make include the reasonableness of the
capital expenditure profile through to System Acceptance presented in the Group's business plans as well
as assumptions included for RCV development through to System Acceptance. The indexation of RCV
via RPI change is a key estimate and this calculation is based on an average of independent forecasts
provided via HM Treasury.

Derivative financial instruments - A net present value model is used to estimate the fair value of the
Group's derivative financial instruments which are all index-linked swaps. This requires management to
estimate future cash flows based on market data. Projected cash flows are then discounted back using
discount rates which are derived from market data adjusted for management's estimate of the Group's
credit risk. This estimate of the Group's credit risk is considered to be an unobservable input and
sensitivities with regards to the impact of this adjustment are disclosed in note 12.

Capitalised costs/creditors - The Group has a substantial capital programme and therefore incurs
significant annual expenditure in relation to the construction of the Thames Tideway Tunnel asset. All
costs incurred are capitalised as assets under construction. Due to the significance of these costs the
directors need to ensure their completeness, existence and validity is appropriately monitored and
control led.

Basis of consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. ln assessing control, the Group takes into consideration potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable. The acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the
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acquirer. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements
from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

Going Concern 

The directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that the
Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
financial statements. Further detail is contained in the long-term viability statement included in the
Strategic report on page 20 to 21.

Property, plant and equipment 

Recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment comprises assets under the course of construction.

Additions to assets under construction represent the capitalised costs of project expenditure by the Group.

The construction phase of the Thames Tideway Tunnel project commenced in 2015 and is expected to
be completed at System Acceptance. During the construction phase of the project, expenditure which is
directly attributable to bringing the Thames Tideway Tunnel asset into its working condition for its intended
use will be capitalised within assets under construction. The directors consider that the Group is
constructing one asset, that being the Thames Tideway Tunnel, and do not consider there to be other
individual assets under construction.

The directors consider all expenditure in the year ended 31 March 2018 to have met the capitalisation
criteria.

Assets under construction are measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Land and property acquired for the Thames Tideway Tunnel project by Thames Water is not included in
the Statement of Financial Position because the economic benefit of such assets is retained by Thames
Water.

Depreciation 

Assets under construction are not depreciated.

Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets are added to the cost of those assets, until such time that those assets are ready for their intended
use. A qualifying asset is defined as an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale. A substantial period of time is interpreted as being greater than one
year.

Impairment 

The directors consider assets under construction to consist of a single asset, the Thames Tideway Tunnel.
As such, impairment is considered in the context of the whole asset under construction as opposed to
review of individual components.

The carrying value of the Group's asset under construction is reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is objective evidence the asset is impaired. The directors consider the asset to be impaired
if the forecast carrying value of the asset at System Acceptance exceeds the forecast recoverable value
of the asset at System Acceptance.

For other financial and non-financial assets, the Group reviews the individual carrying amount of those
assets to determine whether there is any indication of impairment in those assets. If any such impairment
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is calculated in order to determine the extent of any
impairment loss.

Any impairment losses are recognised in the Income Statement.
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Revenue and bad debt risk 

The Group's revenue for each financial year is determined by arrangements set out in its licence granted
by Ofwat. During the construction period of the Thames Tideway Tunnel the primary component of
revenue is the regulated return on the Group's RCV. The Group's Allowed Revenue is notified to Thames
Water, which bills and collects this revenue from its wastewater customers and passes this through to the
Group. Through the construction period, revenue is deferred as the services associated with this revenue
will not be delivered until System Acceptance. Revenue is accrued in the period it has been earned, if it
has not been invoiced by the Group to Thames Water. Revenues that have been invoiced and collected
from Thames Water are treated as an advance payment liability.

ln determining the accrued revenue earned in the period, the directors consider the value of revenues
that will not be recovered through bad debt risk and subsequently the accrued revenue in the Statement
of Financial Position is adjusted to reflect this.

Invoiced revenues reflect the actual cash collected by Thames Water from its customers and as such the
bad debt risk is considered to be very low.

Employee benefits 

Defined contribution pension plans 

A defined pension contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised in the period during
which services are rendered by employees.

Other employee benefits 

Other short and long-term employee benefits are measured on an undiscounted basis and are recognised
over the period in which they accrue.

Provisions 

A provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the Group has a present legal or
contractual obligation as a result of a past event that can be reliably measured and it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. Any provisions recognised by the
Group are recorded at management's best estimate of the consideration required to settle the obligation
at the Statement of Financial Position date.

Operating leases 

Payments made under operating leases are capitalised in assets under construction on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease provided they meet the capitalisation criteria for assets under construction.

Financial instruments 

Financial assets and liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement ("IAS 39") are classified as either derivative or non-derivative financial instruments.
Derivative financial instruments comprise financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss.
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

The Group determines the classification offinancial instruments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this
designation at each financial year end. The initial and subsequent measurement of financial instruments
depends on their classification as follows:

Trade and other receivables 

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they
are measured at amortised cost.

Trade and other payables 

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequent to initial recognition they are
measured at amortised cost.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

Financial instruments (continued) 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and in hand balances and deposits with a maturity at
acquisition of three months or less. Cash equivalents are readily convertible to a known amount of cash
and subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

Short-term cash deposits disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position comprise cash deposited with
a maturity of greater than three months on acquisition, a fixed interest rate and which do not constitute
cash equivalents under IAS 7 'Statement of cash flows'.

Borrowings 

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, borrowings are stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds received (net
of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in the Income Statement over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Derivative financial instruments 

The Group has entered into index-linked swaps to manage its exposure to inflation linked rate risk.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the Statement of Financial Position date. The resulting gain
or loss is recognised immediately in the Income Statement unless the derivative is designated and
effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in the Income Statement
depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. The Group has not designated any derivatives within
hedging relationships and therefore has not applied hedge accounting.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset whereas a derivative with a
negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset
or non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not
expected to be realised or settled within 12 months.

ln addition, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which
the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety.

Further details of the derivative financial instruments fair values, valuation technique and fair value
hierarchy level are disclosed in note 12.

Taxation 

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the Income
Statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other
comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the Statement of Financial Position date, and any adjustment
to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the
tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
disclosed net to the extent that they relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority and the Group has
the right of set off.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

Recently issued accounting standards not yet applied by the Group 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Group has not applied the following new or
revised IFRS's that have been issued but are not yet effective for the Group as at 31 March 2018 and in
some cases are subject still to endorsement by the EU.

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

• IFRS 16 Leases

• IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

• !FRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

• !FRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

• IAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

• IAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

• IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions

• IFRS 4 Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

• IFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation

• Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

• Improvements to IFRSs (2014-2016)

• Improvements to IFRSs (2015-2017)

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) 

The Group has completed an impact assessment of the adoption of IFRS 9 and has concluded that on
adoption of the new standard, impairment losses against financial assets under the 12-month expected
credit loss (ECL) model and those under the simplified ECL model would be immaterial and therefore the
impact of adoption of the new standard is not likely to be significant.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018) 

The Group has assessed the impact of applying the five-step model under IFRS 15 and concluded that it
will have no impact on the current treatment of revenue which is deferred while in the construction phrase
of the project. Based on the completed assessment, the Group does not expect the application of IFRS
15 to have a significant impact on the Group's financial statements when it is adopted.

IFRS 16 Leases (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019) 

The Group has completed its initial assessment of the impact of applying the single recognition model for
lessees and concluded that current operating property leases would fall under the scope of IFRS 16 at
the date of transition. This would result in the Group recognising new right-to-use assets and lease
liabilities on the balance sheet which are likely to increase assets and liabilities by approximately £10.3m.

The Group has assessed the three transition alternatives allowed under IFRS 16 and concluded that there
would not be any material transition differences between each method in relation to the Group's potential
IFRS 16 leases. The Group will continue to assess the impact of this standard as it approaches the
adoption date.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
2 Auditor's remuneration 

2018 2017 
£000 £000 

Audit Services 
Statutory audit - Group and the Company 3 2
Statutory audit - subsidiaries 80 89
Audit related assurance services 
Regulatory audit services provided by the statutory auditor 9 9
Other non-audit services 
Review of interim financial information 8 8
Tax advisory services 68
Other regulatory assurance services 61 42

161 218 

All of these fees have been capitalised in the Company's indirect subsidiary Bazalgette Tunnel Limited.

3 Employee costs 
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the year was 179
(2017: 151).

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Contributions to defined contribution pension plan
Capitalised into asset under construction

2018 
£m 

18.9
2.4
0.7 

(22.0)

2017 
£m 

12.9
1.5
0.6

(15.0)

The Group operates a single defined contribution pension plan which is open to all employees of the
Group.

Director's remuneration 

The directors of the Company did not receive any payment for their services during the year ended 31
March 2018. Any qualifying services the directors perform in respect of the Company are considered to
be incidental and part of the director's overall management responsibilities within the Company.

The remuneration for the directors to the Group for the current and prior year is included in note 16.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 

4 Finance income and costs 

Finance income 
Interest income

Finance costs 
Interest expense on borrowings
Financing fees
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss:

Index linked swaps
Capitalised finance interest and expense into asset under construction

Net finance (income)/costs 

5 Taxation 

Total current tax

Total Income Statement tax expense 

Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

Profit/{loss) before tax:
Expected tax charge/(credit) using UK corporation tax rate of 19% (2017: 20%)
Items not taxable 1 

2018 2017 
£m £m 

(2.3) (1.0)

61.5 29.3
5.2 4.4

(9.5) 34.2
(64.4) (32.7)

(9.5) 34.2 

2018 
£m 

2017 
£m 

2018 2017 
£m £m 

9.5
(1.8)

1.8

(34.2)
6.8

(6.8)

Total Income Statement tax expense 

1 - Items not taxable solely relate to fair value movements on the Group's derivative liabilities which are disregarded for current tax purposes

Unrecognised deferred tax assets 

As at the Statement of Financial Position date, unrecognised deferred tax assets of £20.4m (2017:
£12.0m) have been calculated with regards to the Company's tax losses. These deferred tax assets have
not been recognised due to uncertainty around the timing of the recoverability of these losses against
future taxable profits.
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6 Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant and equipment comprised the following at 31 March 2018:

Cost 
At 1 April 2017
Additions

Balance at 31 March 2018

Asset 
under 

construction Total 
£m £m 

545.9 545.9
609.0 609.0

1,154.9 1,154.9

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 April 2017
Depreciation charge

Balance at 31 March 2018

Net book value at 31 March 2018 1,154.9 1,154.9 

Net book value at 31 March 2017 545.9 545.9

Asset under construction 

During the construction phase of the project which commenced in 2015 and which will be completed at
System Acceptance, all expenditure which is directly attributable to bringing the Thames Tideway Tunnel
asset into its working condition for its intended use will be capitalised. All expenditure, excluding fair value
movements in the Income Statement, is considered to have met this requirement in the year ended 31
March 2018. The amount of net borrowing costs capitalised during the year was £59.2m (2017: £28.3m)
with a capitalisation rate of 100%.

7 Investments in subsidiaries 
The Company has held the following investments in subsidiaries in the current year and prior period:

Country Class of Direct Indirect Direct Indirect 
incorporated shares ownership ownership ownership ownership 

in held 2018 2018 2017 2017 
Direct subsidiaries 
Bazalgette Ventures
Limited UK Ordinary 100% 100%

Indirect subsidiaries 
Bazalgette Holdings UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Limited
Bazalgette Tunnel UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Limited
Bazalgette Finance pic UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Thames Tideway Tunnel UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Limited

All subsidiaries have the same year end as the Company. All subsidiaries have the same registered
address as the Company which is Cottons Centre, Cottons Lane, London, SE1 2QG.

During the year the Company increased its investment in its subsidiary Bazalgette Ventures Limited by
£139.3m to a total investment of £509.?m (2016: 370.4m).
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8 Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables
Accrued Income
Other receivables
Prepayments

Non-current assets 
Current assets 

Group Group Company Company 
2018 2017 2018 2017 
Em Em Em Em 

1.9 2.2
3.3

18.8 17.8
63.3 64.6

87.3 84.6 

54.5 54.8 
32.8 29.8 

Accrued income of £3.3m (2017: £nil) relates to cumulative revenue earned on the project to date that
has not been invoiced to Thames Water as at the Statement of Financial Position date.

Prepayments include £31 .4m (2017: £34.9m) in relation to the Government Support Package and £11.6m
(2017: £13.1 m) in relation to insurance contracts.

9 Cash and cash equivalents 
Group Group Company Company 
2018 2017 2018 2017 
Em Em Em Em 

Cash and bank balances 84.9 84.1
Cash equivalents 761.5 231.8

Cash and cash equivalents per cash flow 
statement 846.4 315.9 

Cash equivalents comprise short-term deposits and investments in money market funds with an original
maturity of three months or less. The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair
value. Short-term deposits with a maturity of greater than 3 months are shown separately on the
Statement of Financial Position. At the Statement of Financial Position date these totalled £57.Sm (2017:
£nil).

Restricted Cash 
The Group holds Debt Service Reserve Accounts to maintain committed liquidity facilities with regards to
the prospective financing cost payments for a period of 12 months from the Statement of Financial
Position date. The restricted cash value in Debt Service Reserve Accounts was £20.4m at 31 March 2018
(2017: £3.7m).
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1 O Trade and other payables 

Trade payables
Accrued expenses
Deferred income
Advance payment liability

Non-current liabilities 
Current liabilities 

Group Group Company Company 
2018 2017 2018 2017 
£m £m £m £m 

1.9 2.0
36.0 16.2
4.7 1.8

53.5 26.7

96.1 46.7 

57.0 26.7 
39.1 20.0 

The advance payment liability represents deferred revenue that has been invoiced to and settled by
Thames Water. This revenue is deferred until System Acceptance as the services associated with the
revenue will not be delivered until this time. The deferred income of £4.7m (2017: £1.8m) represents the
cumulative balance on the project to date of revenue accrued and revenue invoiced to Thames Water,
less the revenue that has been settled by Thames Water at the Statement of Financial Position date.

11 Borrowings 
The Group raises finance under a multi-currency financing platform in both a loan and bond format.

Some of the finance raised by the Group is in a deferred format which means that the proceeds from the
borrowing are not received until a future settlement date so as to align when funds are raised with the
construction expenditure profile of the project.

Where bonds are issued with deferred draw dates, the proceeds from these bonds are only received from
the bond purchaser on the future settlement dates.

This note provides information about the Group's borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost.

2018 2017 
£m £m 

£250m 2.375% fixed-rate bond 2027
£75m 0.828% index-linked bond 2047 ª· b 
£200m 0.740% index-linked bond 2042 ª· c 
£300m 2.860% fixed-rate loan 2032
Shareholder loan notes 8.000 % fixed rate 2064

247.2
76.1

201.1
301.5
714.4 529.3

Total borrowings 1,540.3 529.3 

Current liabilities 
Non-current liabilities 1,540.3 529.3 

a) The value of the capital and interest elements of these index-linked bonds are linked to movements in the Consumer Price Index (CPI)

b) This debt amortises from 2038

c) This debt amortises from 2033 and contains a collar mechanism that limits total accretion repayment within a predetermined range
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11 Borrowings (continued) 
Deferred loans 

The Group raised £1 00m of loans during the year with a deferred draw date (2017: £700m).

Deferred purchase bonds 

The Group placed £125m of deferred purchase bonds during the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017:
£450m). ln total, the Group has issued £575m of deferred bonds to a range of investors. The bond
proceeds will be received over the next four years and the bonds have maturities from 2040 to 2054.

12 Financial instruments 

The carrying values of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group and Company are as follows:

Financial Assets: 
Group 
2018 
£m 

Group 
2017 
£m 

Other financial assets: 
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term deposits

24.0
846.4

57.5

20.0
315.9

Total 927.9 335.9 

Trade and other receivables above exclude prepayments.

Company 
2018 
£m 

Company 
2017 
£m 

Financial Liabilities: 
Group Group Company Company 
2018 2017 2018 2017 
£m £m £m £m 

Liabilities at fair value through profit and loss: 
Derivative financial instruments 24.7 34.2

Other financial liabilities: 
Trade and other payables 96.1 46.7
Borrowings 1,540.3 529.3

Total 1,661.1 610.2 
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Fair value measurements 

The fair value of financial instruments represents the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability between informed and willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale at the
measurement date.

The fair values of financial instruments and a comparison to their carrying value is shown in the table
below. The Group has not disclosed the fair values for cash and cash equivalents, short-term deposits,
trade receivables and trade payables as their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of the
fair value.

31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March 
2018 2018 2017 2017 
Book Fair Book Fair 
value value value value 

£m £m £m £m 
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 
Non-current 
Borrowings - fixed-rate sterling loans 1,015.9 1,065.4 529.3 565.5
Borrowings - fixed-rate sterling bonds 247.2 246.1
Borrowings - index-linked sterling bonds 277.2 294.5

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and 
loss 
Non-current 
Derivatives - index-linked swaps 24.7 24.7 34.2 34.2

Total 1,565.0 1,630.7 563.5 599.7 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 

Borrowings include index-linked bonds and fixed-rate bonds, fixed-rate loans and intra-group loans. The
fair value of borrowings is determined using observable quoted market prices where this is available or
by discounting the expected future cashflows using appropriate available market data and a credit risk
adjustment representative of the Group.

Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss 

The Group's index-linked swaps are measured at fair value through profit and loss s. Where an active
market exists, swaps are recorded at fair value using quoted market prices. Otherwise, they are valued
using a net present value model. As there is no quoted market price, the fair value of each swap is
calculated as the net present value of the expected future cash flow associated with each leg of the swap,
discounted to the reporting date using market rates and adjusted for the credit risk of the Group. Estimates
of future cash flows are based on well-defined and traded market references.

The valuation techniques for determining the fair values of financial instruments are classified under the
hierarchy defined in IFRS 13 which categorises inputs to valuation techniques into Levels 1-3 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable.

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included for Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)
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12 Financial instruments (continued) 

Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs)

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability are categorised across different levels
of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level
of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that is significant to the entire measurement.

The Group considers all its derivative financial instruments to fall within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
as the calculation of the estimated fair value is based on assumptions which include an unobservable
input with regards to the Group's credit risk. The table below sets out the valuation basis of financial
instruments held at fair value at 31 March 2018.

2018 
Level3 

£m 

2017 
Level3 

£m 
Financial instruments at fair value 
Derivative financial liabilities:
- Index-linked swaps 24.7 34.2

24.7 34.2 

The carrying value of the derivative financial instruments is equal to the fair value.

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance for level 3 fair
values.

Balance 1 April 2017
(Profit)/loss recognised in finance costs 
- Net change in fair value (unrealised)

Derivative 
financial 

instruments at 
fair value 

through profit 
or loss 

£m 
34.2

(9.5)

Balance at 31 March 2018 24.7 

The fair value estimate of the credit risk of the Group is calculated using several data points, including
analysis of market data for similar corporate entities, which is publicly available and based on a large
portfolio of liquid, tradeable instruments, as well as an assessment of the credit spread on the Group's
recent bond issuances. Having considered all available information, the directors believe that the risk
adjustment applied in the fair value estimate reflects the Group's current credit risk.

Level 3 fair values sensitivity 

For the fair value of the index linked swaps, reasonably possible changes to the unobservable input,
holding other inputs constant, would have the following effects.

31 March 2018 
Impact on profit for the year 

Increase (Decrease) 

Risk-adjusted discount rate (+/- 1 00bps movement) 11.0 (13.6)
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The Group's principal objectives in managing capital are:

• To finance the Company while minimising the weighted average cost of capital. The Company will
maintain at all times a robust investment grade credit rating;

• Financing will be a mix of some or all of commercial bank debt, bonds (public and private), Eiß loans,
lease financing and other instruments. Financing could be raised on a real/or nominal basis;

• The Company's weighted average cost of capital will be minimised by reducing risk, including interest
rate, inflation, credit spread, maturity risk, liquidity and currency risk;

• Hedging and pre-financing may be used to reduce risk. The Company will not engage in speculative
treasury activity; and

• The Company will manage its financing activities in compliance with the constraints imposed by the
Government Support Package, financing documents and the Company's Licence.

The Group seeks to maintain a low risk financing position by preserving the investment grade Baa1
(Moody's)/BBB+ (Fitch) credit ratings. These credit ratings were unchanged in the year. The Group
monitors gearing targets on a regular basis, taking into consideration risk, financing, legal and regulatory
constraints and optimal level of execution within the capital structure.

During the year the Group has secured a further £400m of loans in addition to the £700m European
Investment Bank loan it secured in the prior year and the Group also issued a further £650m of bonds via
multiple counterparties, taking the total bond issuance to £1.1 bn. The bond issuance includes deferred
purchase bonds where the bond proceeds will be received over the next 4 years.

The Group maintains access to a £750m revolving credit facility (RCF), following the cancellation of
£250m in March 2018. This RCF facility remained undrawn at the Statement of Financial position date
(2017: £nil draw down).

Management of financial risk 
The Treasury team, which reports directly to the CFO, substantially manages the Group's financing,
including debt, cash management and interest costs for the Company on a day to day basis. The Treasury
Committee, which is chaired by a non-executive director reviews and reports to the Board on the
Company's treasury policy, treasury strategies and financial strategy. The Group also has an executive
level Funding and Financing Committee, chaired by the CFO, which considers treasury and regulatory
matters in detail on a monthly basis.

The Group's management of specific financial risks is dealt with as follows:

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to fund on a timely basis its capital expenditure
programme or service its debt. At 31 March 2018, the Group had total liquidity in excess of £3bn,
comprising £904m of cash and short-term deposits, the £750m undrawn RCF, the £700m undrawn Eiß
loan, £575m of deferred purchase bonds and £1 00m of other undrawn loans. This, combined with
expected revenue collections, provides liquidity significantly in excess of our 18-month target, including
all debt requirements to System Acceptance.

For deferred purchase bonds issued by the Group's subsidiary, Bazalgette Finance pic, the Group will
receive these proceeds at a future settlement date. The Group is therefore exposed to the counterparties
to these deferred bonds on whom it relies to provide funds on the pre-agreed dates. Bazalgette Finance
pic evaluates counterparty risk prior to entering into such transactions and manages concentration risk in
respect of deferred funding commitments. As part of its risk management, Bazalgette Finance pic has
agreed information requirements and covenants with the Deferred Bond Purchasers, and monitors on an
ongoing basis the Deferred Bond Purchasers' ability to honour their obligations, allowing it to assess any
potential liquidity exposure in advance of settlement dates, and to make alternative funding arrangements
if necessary.
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The Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, through the Government Support
Package, has committed to provide certain contingent financial support during the construction period.
Such support is available in exceptional circumstances and includes the Market Disruption Facility
providing the Group with a debt facility of up to £500m, for use where it is unable to issue debt in the debt
capital markets as a result of market disruption.
The tables below analyse the Group's interest-bearing borrowings and net-settled derivative financial
instruments into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the Statement of Financial
Position date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows including
interest payable.

Borrowings 
Within one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years
After more than 5 years

Derivative financial instruments 
Within one year
Between one and two years
Between two and five years
After more than 5 years

2018 2017 
£m £m 

(73.6) (42.3)
(73.7) (42.3)

(221.4) (127.0)
(4,182.1) (2,307.7)

(4,550.8) (2,519.3) 

2018 2017 
£m £m 

3.4
7.8 1.1

51.0 34.7
(98.1) (67.9)

(35.9) (32.1) 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet
its contractual obligations.
Credit risk for the Group principally arises from trading (the supply of services) and treasury activities (the
depositing of cash). The Group's exposure to trading risk is predominantly with Thames Water which is
the Group's only significant trading counterparty and who constitute the full outstanding balance of trade
receivables at the Statement of Financial Position date. As part of its licenced activities, the Group
generates an annual revenue return on its RCV, which, it subsequently invoices to Thames Water
periodically through the financial year. At any time, the outstanding trade receivable balance is
approximately one month's revenue collection and represents amounts already collected by Thames
Water from its customers so the risk of default is considered low.
Placements of cash on deposit expose the Group to credit risk against the counterparties concerned. A
treasury policy on Investment Strategy Management provides clear instrument limits for money market
funds, liquidity funds and money market deposits. The policy sets counterparty concentration and tenor
limits through minimum credit rating requirements (as measured by reputable credit agencies).
At the Statement of Financial Position date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amount of financial assets and therefore the
maximum exposure at 31 March 2018 was £927.9m (2017: £335.9m). Analysis of this amount can be
found in the financial assets section of this note.
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Market risk - Interest rate risk 
The Group's finance strategy defines long term objectives for the management of interest rate risk, in
addition to compliance with the hedging policies contained in the Government Support Package, financing
documentation and the Licence. These include, amongst other things, restrictions on over hedging and
requirements as to the amount of the Group's debt which bears a fixed, floating or an index-linked rate of
interest.
The Group's deferred revenue and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates. All drawn debt at 31 March 2018 is either borrowed or hedged via swaps, at fixed
or index-linked rates. A sensitivity analysis has not been disclosed as the impact from interest rate
movements is considered immaterial.

Market risk - Inflation rate risk 
The finance costs of the Group's index-linked debt instruments and derivatives vary with changes in RPI
and CPI rather than interest rates. These financial instruments form an economic hedge with the Group's
revenues and RCV, which are also linked to RPI changes. The financing strategy has involved issuing
RPI and CPI linked debt to ensure that reductions in revenue due to low inflation will be partially offset by
reductions in interest costs.
ln the year, the Group issued long dated CPI bonds recognising Ofwat's proposals to transition from RPI
to CPIH as the underlying measure of inflation for price control periods. There is a risk that CPI could
diverge from RPI in a way that the correlation between RCV and nominal debt weakens.
Inflation risk is monitored and reported monthly to the Funding and Financing Committee and
subsequently to the Treasury Committee.
The table below summarises the sensitivity at 31 March 2018 of the Group's profit and equity to changes
in RPI for the Group's index-linked derivatives only. Due to the adopted accounting policy of capitalising
borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the construction of the TTT, the sensitivity analysis
excludes the Group's index-linked borrowings. This analysis also excludes any RPI impact on the Group's
revenues and RCV. The fair value of the Group's index-linked derivatives is based on estimated future
cash flows, discounted to the reporting date and these fair values will be impacted by an increase or
decrease in RPI as shown in the table below. This analysis assumes all other variables remain constant.

2018 
£m 

(Loss)/profit
Equity

13 Capital and reserves 
Called-up share capital 

+1% 
(69.1)
(69.1)

Allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of £1 each

2018 2017 2017 
£m £m £m 
-1% +1% -1% 
62.9 (57.2) 55.3
62.9 (57.2) 55.3

At the beginning of the year
Issued for cash

At the end of the year 

Ordinary Ordinary 
shares shares 

2018 2017 
No. No. 

368,101,796 135,952,902
139,264,953 232,148,894

507,366,749 368,101,796 

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive distributions as declared from time to time and are
entitled to vote at meetings of the Company in line with the details of the Shareholders agreement. Further
information on the role of the shareholders is outlined in the Holding Company Principles statement which
is available at www.tideway.london
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Share premium 

Share premium was unchanged in the year at £2.3m (2017: £2.3m).

Retained earnings 
2018 2017 
£m £m 

At the beginning of the year (34.2)
Profit/(loss) for the year 9.5 (34.2)

At the end of the year (24.7) (34.2) 
= = 

14 Operating leases 
The Group has entered into non-cancellable operating leases in respect of office buildings. The future
minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

2018 2017 

Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

£m 
2.1
7.9
1.4

£m 
6.7
2.0

11.4 8.7 

15 Contingent liabilities 
There are a number of uncertainties surrounding the Group including potential claims, which may affect
the financial performance of the Group. Where claims are possible but not probable, or unquantifiable,
such claims are treated as contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position but are monitored to ensure that should a possible obligation
become probable and a transfer of economic benefits to settle an obligation can be reliably measured,
then a provision for the obligation is made. There were no material contingent liabilities at the Statement
of Financial Position date.

16 Related parties 
Group 

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated
on consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

Key management personnel 

Key management personnel comprise the directors of the Group. The aggregate compensation of key
management personnel to the Group was as follows:

Short-term benefits

2018 
£m 

2.2

2017 
£m 

2.2

2.2 2.2 

Further information can be found in the Remuneration report of Bazalgette Tunnel Limited's Annual Report
which is available at www.tideway.london.
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Company 

The directors of the Company are considered to be the key management personnel. They did not receive
any payment for their services during the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: £nil).

17 Ultimate parent company and parent company of larger group 
The Company has no ultimate controlling party. The Company is indirectly owned by Allianz Infrastructure
Luxembourg I S.a.r.l, Dalmore Capital 14 GP Limited, IPP (Bazalgette) Limited, Bazalgette (Investments)
Limited and DIF Bid Co Limited (UK).

Copies of the consolidated accounts for the Bazalgette Equity Group are available from the Company
Secretary, Bazalgette Equity Limited, Cottons Centre, Cottons Lane, London, SE1 2QG.

18 Subsequent events occurring after the reporting date 
The Group's indirect subsidiary Thames Tideway Tunnel Limited has been voluntarily dissolved in April
2018. Its last trading date was 31 March 2017.

On 1 O April 2018, the Group's subsidiary, Bazalgette Finance pic, issued a £1 S0m Green index-linked
bond. Linked to RPI the bond matures in 2032 and has a deferred purchase date of 2022.

On 14 May 2018, Bazalgette Finance pic issued three further deferred purchase bonds; a £75m Green
CPI-linked bond with a maturity of 2052 and a deferred purchase date of 2022 and two £50m Green RPI­
linked bonds with maturities of 2049 and deferred purchase dates of 2022 and 2023 respectively.
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